




Contents

1
Timeless Software Ltd. 

Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 3

Management Discussion and Analysis 5

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management 10

Corporate Governance Report 12

Directors’ Report 21

Independent Auditors’ Report 30

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 32

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 33

Statement of Financial Position 34

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 35

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 36

Notes to the Financial Statements 38

Financial Summary 122



Corporate Information

2
Timeless Software Ltd. 

Directors

Executive directors

CHENG Kin Kwan
LAW Kwai Lam
LEUNG Mei Sheung, Eliza
ZHENG Ying Yu
FUNG Chun Pong, Louis
LIAO Yun
TAN Felipe
ZHANG Ming

Independent non-executive directors

TSANG Wai Chun, Marianna
CHAN Mei Ying, Spencer
LAM Kwai Yan
CHAN Choi Ling

Secretary

LEUNG Wai Sze CPA, FCCA, ACA

Compliance officer

FUNG Chun Pong, Louis

Audit committee

TSANG Wai Chun, Marianna
CHAN Mei Ying, Spencer
LAM Kwai Yan

Registered Office

Units 111-113 1st Floor
Enterprise Place Phase One
Hong Kong Science Park
Pak Shek Kok New Territories
Hong Kong

Auditors

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Legal adviser

Michael Li & Co.

Banker

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Share Registrars

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong



Chairman’s Statement

3
Timeless Software Ltd. 

Review

In 2012, the electronic technology industry experienced through acceleration in cross-border fusion, 
manufacturing, information services and digital content industry faced high-level integration; such wave 
broadened the innovation frontier of electronic technology industries and new forms of industry continually 
developed. Under such context, Timeless Group carries on with cross-industry collaboration, integrating 
resources efficiently so as to promote multi-industry collaborative innovation aiming to bring novel experience to 
consumers. Our goal is not confined to just market share expansion and brand-name influence but with a bid to 
make major breakthrough in worldwide electronic technology industry market status.

It is further worth mentioning: dating back 10 years ago, the Group has foreseen that online internet storage 
would become a hot trend; thus at that point of time, a technology Research and Development Centre was 
jointly set up between Beijing Tsinghua University and the Group to co-develop network storage technology 
“GuangCunYun” (廣存元). Today, the trendy buzzword is now known as “Cloud Computing” and “Cloud 
Storage”; in view of rising tide, the Group thus decided to unveil the crown jewel which the Group had treasured 
for so many years and launched into market for the benefit of the majority of Chinese Internet users and the 
general public so that they could make use of various technological means, enjoy and share the outstanding 
technological outcome. And, further, using the technology as the springboard, enable Chinese autonomous 
original technologies to extend to the whole world.

In addition, in May 2012 the Group completed the Xinjiang mining business acquisition, stabilising income source 
support, adding fuel and momentum for the development of the Group’s core software development business.

Outlook

Looking ahead, challenges and opportunities co-exist.

Firstly, the external macro-economic situation is still grim, but crisis also breeds opportunity. In order to stimulate 
consumption, the Chinese government will actively stimulate domestic demand, while further promoting China’s 
urbanisation, which will nurture local Chinese technology companies, especially software companies to bring a 
new round of innovation opportunities.

Second, the rapid development pace of products and technology is creating leapfrog opportunities for enterprises. 
Recently, the boom in global electronics, information technology and the Internet greatly accelerate the speed of 
technological development, all kinds of new technology and new products mushroomed. The Group has always 
insisted on the implementation of innovative product strategy, carefully study the market trends and consumer 
preferences, and actively integrate external resources and efforts to develop competitive products.

Third, business models and industrial morphological changes bring along new opportunities. Global electronic 
technology industry is facing a new round of reshuffle, many information technology, Internet companies have 
been indulging themselves into mobile Internet and “Cloud” services, however, the business model changes 
thus brought along by the wave is narrowing the differentiation between hardware products whereas “Soft 
power” represented by Operating Systems, Application platforms and content services shall become value-
added spotlights. Technology brand-names, not only should they possess good products, but are also in need of 
enhancing their business models to quest for profitable chances. Along with the rapid development of e-Commerce 
platforms, the Group will strengthen the development of electronic commerce in order to stay abreast with 
changes in market and channels.



4
Timeless Software Ltd. 

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Outlook (Continued)

Looking forward into 2013, the Company will continue on to strive for the success of the intelligent robot project 
and its subsequent market launch, laying the profit foundation for the Company and establish the organic 
consolidation between e-logistics and e-Commerce so as to broaden the revenue channels for the Company. 
At the same time, supplemented by mining business partners expansion, so as to endeavor and guarantee the 
continual, healthy and stable development of the Group, living up to shareholders’ expectations.

Summing up, Timeless, since its incarnation till today, is cored around software development and sees China 
Market as the profit spring. The Group persists on “consolidate and autonomous originality” as the warp and “Short 
cycle, low cost and high efficiency” as the weft, and is committed to optimise in product mix, market strategies, 
sales channels, costs and brand-name influence. By relying on the unique status of Chinese autonomous original 
software enterprise we possessed, we will strive on to build a platform that the Chinese Race could be proud 
of. Along the course of such service, Timeless shall pursue on turning the figures from red to black, followed by 
sustainable, continual profits.

Looking ahead, the above conclusions meet the future development of Timeless.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Kin Kwan
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 21 June 2013
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Business Review and Outlook

During the year under review, the Group has completed the acquisition of the Goffers Group on 11 May 2012 
and further expanded its lines of business to the mining industry and is principally engaged in two business lines, 
namely (i) the provision of computer consultancy and software maintenance services, software development, 
sales of computer hardware and software and e-Commerce services (hereinafter collectively referred to as 
the “Computer Hardware and Software Business”); and (ii) the exploration and exploitation of various mines in 
Xinjiang, the PRC (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Mining Business”).

Computer Hardware and Software Business

For 2012 that passed, the Group’s core business steamed on with momentum; on one hand, our experience 
and expertise in software development cumulated through the years earned recognition from leading domestic 
home appliance enterprise, willing to join hands to co-develop intelligent robot project leading to product with 
long term market effect and revenue. Further, the Group’s technology edge and passion on web-logistics finally 
gained appreciation from leading logistics head, after years of laborious cultivation, we finally managed to gain 
a successful attempt into the organic combination between technology and e-Commerce, bringing in additional 
revenue channel for the Group. Moreover, the Group’s hard work spent on technological application on judicial 
services has been closing in to mature age, the blossom and fruit is at hand in the foreseeable future.

Mining Business

Overview

The Group has completed the very substantial acquisition in relation to the acquisition of a 51% equity interest 
in the Mining Business on 11 May 2012 (“Acquisition Date”). Gold dores are the major product of the Mining 
Business before the Baishiquan nickel-copper mine, which is now in the development stage, commences 
production. For the period from the Acquisition Date to 31 March 2013, the sales of gold dores amounted to 
HK$152 million which contributed approximately 97% of the total revenue for the mining business during the 
period.

During the period from Acquisition Date to 31 March 2013, approximately 71,000 tonnes of ores were extracted 
from the gold mines and approximately 50,000 tonnes of ores were processed at an average grade of 5.64 gram/
tonne. The processed were mainly extracted from the Heishiliang gold mine and Hongshannan gold mine.

The development of Baishiquan nickel-copper mine is progressing as scheduled and the total capital expenditure 
during the period from the Acquisition Date to 31 March 2013 amounted to approximately HK$12 million. With 
the satisfactory progress of the mine development, the management is confident that the nickel-copper mine will 
become another source of profit to the Group upon the commencement of its commercial production in 2014.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Business Review and Outlook (Continued)

Mining Business (Continued)

Licences and permits

The status and terms of validity of the exploration and exploitation licences of the major mines held by the Group 
are summarised below:

Major mines Type of licence Effective date Expiry date

Heishiliang gold mine Exploitation 25 January 2013 25 September 2018
Hongshannan gold mine Exploitation 22 August 2012 22 August 2014
Tuchushan iron mine Exploitation 30 December 2010 30 August 2019
Baishiquan nickel-copper mine Exploitation 30 July 2012 30 July 2014
Baishiquan nickel-copper mine Exploration 19 May 2011 19 May 2014

Reserves estimates update

The reserves estimates for the Heishiliang gold mines, Hongshannan gold mine, Tuchushan iron mine and 
Baishiquan nickel-copper mine as at 31 March 2013 are set out below:

Gold mine Reserve/Resource category Tonnage Average grade
(tonnes*1,000) (gram/tonne)

Heishiliang Proved 73 1.47
Probable / N/A
Stockpiles 23 1.47
Resource 117 1.87

Hongshannan Proved 81 5.14
Probable 8 2.71
Stockpiles 10 2.96

Iron Mine Reserve category Tonnage Average grade
(tonnes*1,000) (Fe %)

Tuchushan Proved / N/A
Probable 322 32.96

Nickel-copper Mine Reserve category Tonnage Average grade
(tonnes*1,000) (Ni %) (Cu %)

Baishiquan Proved / N/A N/A
Probable 1,208 0.52 0.34

Note:

The mineral resource and reserve estimates were based on the 2011 estimates as per the independent technical report as 
disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 12 April 2012 in relation to the very substantial acquisition. The increases and 
decreases were due to mining consumption and production exploration during the period and were confirmed by internal experts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Business Review and Outlook (Continued)

Mining Business (Continued)

Madagascar Projects

The Group has entered into a mining services agreement with owners of the mines to conduct mining activities 
in three gold mines located in the Republic of Madagascar, an island country in the Indian Ocean, off the south-
eastern coast of Africa. The Group is in the course of preparing the mining plan. The commencement of the 
mining services of the three gold mines will contribute to the Group’s profitability.

Dividends to non-controlling interests

Among the dividends payable to non-controlling interests in the amount of HK$46.8 million, HK$18.2 million was 
declared by a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group engaging in Mining Business in January 2013 for its 
2012 performance. The balance of HK$28.6 million was declared before the Acquisition Date.

Promissory Note

On 11 May 2012, the Group issued promissory note in the principal amount of HK$63 million to Starmax Holdings 
Limited as part of the consideration of acquisition of the Mining Business. After the repayment of HK$3 million in 
August 2012, the outstanding aggregate principle amount of HK$60 million is repayable in six equal instalments 
on each anniversary of the date of issue. The promissory note bears interest at 3% per annum payable on each 
anniversary of the date of issue and is secured by a charge over 51% of the issued share capital of Goffers 
Management Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

The first instalment of promissory note repayment in the principal amount of HK$10 million falls due on 11 May 
2013. On 10 May 2013, Starmax Holdings Limited and the Group mutually agreed to extend the due date for the 
repayment of the first instalment to 11 May 2014, and that interest shall continue to accrue on the overdue first 
instalment at 7% per annum until the first instalment is fully paid by the Company.

Financial Performance Review

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group recorded audited turnover of approximately HK$204,866,000, 
representing an increase of 695% as compared with the same period of last year. Loss attributable to owners of 
the Company was approximately HK$27,611,000, as compared to approximately HK$11,050,000 over the same 
period in 2012.

The fluctuations in turnover and result for the Group was mainly contributed by (i) the newly acquired Mining 
Business for which recorded turnover and segmental profit for the year under review of approximately 
HK$156,038,000 and HK$46,513,000 respectively; (ii) non-recurring acquisition related-costs of the Mining 
Business incurred during the year under review of approximately HK$7,146,000; (iii) income tax expense 
amounted to approximately HK$22,371,000; (iv) net gains of approximately HK$7,709,000 on listed equity 
investments; (v) depreciation and amortisation amounted to approximately HK$26,670,000; and (vi) write off of 
goodwill amounted to approximately HK$5,436,000.

For the Computer Hardware and Software business, the Group recorded turnover and segmental loss of 
approximately HK$48,828,000 and HK$25,732,000 for the current year respectively, representing an increase of 
89.4% and decrease of 9.9% as compared with last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had bank balances and cash and net current assets amounted to approximately 
HK$55,242,000 and HK$83,684,000 (31 March 2012: HK$63,045,000 and HK$92,893,000) respectively. Out of 
the Group’s bank balances and cash, about 48% and 52% were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Chinese 
Renminbi respectively. As at 31 March 2013, the current ratio stood at 1.91 (31 March 2012: 16.03).

The Group generally financed its operations and investing activities primarily with internally generated cash flow 
as well as the proceeds from previous fund raising activities and from the exercising by grantees of the share 
options granted under the 2003 share option scheme.

As at 31 March 2013, the Company’s total number of issued shares was 1,580,261,503 (31 March 2012: 
1,306,311,503). During the year under review, 270,000,000 shares at the issue price of HK$0.15 each of the 
Company were issued and allotted to Starmax Holdings Limited on 11 May 2012 as partial consideration in 
relation to acquisition of 51% equity interest in the Goffers Group. In addition, certain employees of the Group 
exercised share options granted to them under the 2003 share option scheme and 3,950,000 (for the year ended 
31 March 2012: 3,750,000) shares of the Company were issued and allotted thereof.

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had outstanding borrowings of approximately HK$61,126,000 (31 March 2012: 
HK$24,000), for which primarily represents the Hong Kong dollar denominated promissory note accounted for at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The promissory note shall be repaid by annual instalments 
with accrued interests in fixed rate and of which the aggregate notional amount of approximately HK$11,351,000 
was repayable within one year, HK$44,200,000 was repayable within two to five years and HK$10,300,000 was 
repayable after five years accordingly.

The directors believe that the Group has an adequate capital structure and the Group’s existing financial 
resources are sufficient to fulfill its commitments and working capital requirements.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 45.88% (31 March 2012: 0.02%), based on 
total borrowings of approximately HK$61,126,000 (31 March 2012: HK$24,000) and equity attributable to owners 
of the Company of approximately HK$133,224,000 (31 March 2012: HK$110,310,000). The increase in the ratio 
was mainly attributable to the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2013, 102 shares of Goffers Management Limited (representing 51% of the issued share capital), 
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was pledged to the noteholder in order to secure the 
payment obligations of the Group under the promissory note. As at 31 March 2013, the Group had also pledged 
bank deposits to secure the general credit facilities to the extent of HK$110,000 granted to the Company and a 
subsidiary.

Order book and prospects for new business

The amount of orders on hand of the Group was over HK$12,425,000 as at 31 March 2013.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Segmental information

The Group is currently organised into two operating segments – (i) the Computer Hardware and Software 
business; and (ii) the Mining business. During the year under review, revenue generated by the Group’s computer 
hardware and software business and mining business accounted for 23.8% (2012: 100%) and 76.2% (2012: 0%) 
respectively.

Material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

On 7 September 2011 and 10 April 2012, Time Kingdom Limited (“Purchaser”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement and supplemental agreement respectively 
(collectively, the “Agreements”) with an independent third party Starmax Holdings Limited (“Vendor”), pursuant 
to which the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase 
the 102 shares of Goffers Management Limited (“Goffers”), representing 51% of the issued share capital of 
Goffers, for HK$103,500,000. The consideration shall be satisfied at completion by the Company to issue the 
consideration shares to the Vendor at the issue price of HK$0.15 each to the Vendor and by the Purchaser 
issuing the promissory note to the Vendor. The Board considers that the acquisition represents a strategic move 
providing the Group with an opportunity to enter the mining industry in the PRC which will be enhancing value for 
the shareholders.

All conditions precedent under the Agreements were satisfied and completion took place on 11 May 2012 and 
the Goffers Group became subsidiaries of the Company since that date. The acquisition results in the issue 
of 270,000,000 consideration shares by the Company to the Vendor at the issue price of HK$0.15 each and 
promissory note in the principal amount of HK$63,000,000, representing the consideration of HK$103,500,000.

The acquisition constitutes a very substantial acquisition of the Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing 
Rules. Relevant details were set out in the announcement dated 7 September 2011 and the circular dated 12 
April 2012 published on the GEM website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkgem.com.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies 
during the year under review.

Future plans for material investments

The Group does not have any plan for material investments in the near future.

Exposure to exchange risks

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars or 
Renminbi and the exchange rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars has been relatively stable throughout the year 
under review, the exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2013, there were no material contingent liabilities incurred by the Group.

Employee information

As at 31 March 2013, the Group employed a total staff of 205. Staff remuneration is reviewed by the Group from 
time to time and increases are granted normally annually or by special adjustment depending on length of service 
and performance when warranted. In addition to salaries, the Group provides staff benefits including medical 
insurance and provident fund. Share options and bonuses are also available to employees of the Group at the 
discretion of the directors and depending upon the financial performance of the Group.
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Directors

Executive directors

Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan, aged 74, is the founder and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 
Prior to establishing the Company, Mr. Cheng has been serving the IT industry for over 30 years. He was the 
inventor who developed the first Chinese processing system and brought into China the first generation of 
image processing PC, the first dealer of Novell system in Hong Kong and China, and also, the developer of the 
first computer system for Hong Kong Futures Exchange. He received an Honorary Doctor of Management from 
Lincoln University and also awarded a Honorary Fellow Member of Canadian Chartered Institute of Business 
Administration. In recognition of his contribution, he was accredited as Information Technology Specialist by 
the China World Space Science Academy and appointed as Executive Vice President and Honorary Secretary-
General of National Bureau JISC Industry Development Strategy Professional Committee. He held various senior 
positions in software development companies and provided technical consultancies for multinational vendors.

Mr. Law Kwai Lam, aged 66, is the Consultant to the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Law has been with the 
Group since its establishment. Mr. Law holds a Bachelor degree in Biochemistry from the University of Kansas. 
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Law was the Company Secretary of a listed company in Hong Kong for 10 years.

Ms. Leung Mei Sheung, Eliza, aged 48, is the Administration Director of the Group and is responsible for the 
overall administrative management of the Group and special assignments by the CEO. Ms. Leung joined the 
Group in June 1996. She has over 27 years of experience in office administration and accounting in the IT field.

Ms. Zheng Ying Yu, aged 39, is the Chief Representative of the Group’s subsidiary in Guangzhou, responsible 
for market promotion, business development and the overall operation of the Guangzhou office. She joined the 
Group in 1998 and has 17 years of experience in the IT industry. Ms. Zheng holds a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Computer Science from ZhongShan University.

Mr. Fung Chun Pong, Louis, aged 60, is the Head of Operations, Hong Kong and is responsible for the overall 
operations of the Hong Kong region. Mr. Fung joined the Group in October 1998. He has over 30 years of 
experience in the IT industry and specialises in financial systems.

Mr. Liao Yun, aged 40, is the Head of Development-Guangzhou, responsible for planning and executing project 
development and Timeless Consolidated Platform development. Mr. Liao holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer 
Software from South China University of Technology. He joined the Group in July 1998 and has over 17 years of 
experience in the IT industry.

Mr. Felipe Tan, aged 58, is currently a director of Xinjiang Tianmu Mineral Resources Development Co. Ltd. 
(“Xinjiang Tianmu”), Goffers Resources Limited, Kangshun HK Limited, Kangshun Investments Limited and 
Goffers Management Limited, all of which are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company. Xinjiang Tianmu 
is principally engaged in the exploration and exploitation of gold, iron and nickel-copper mines in Xinjiang, PRC. 
Mr. Tan has over 30 years of experience in metal trading including over 13 years of management experience 
in mining industry in the PRC. Currently, he is the chairman of the board, president and chief executive officer 
of GobiMin Inc., the shares of which are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada (stock code: GMN.V). 
Its subsidiaries and associate companies are principally engaged in exploration of a gold mine and prospecting 
exploration projects of gold, copper and nickel in Xinjiang, PRC. During the period from 1994 to 2006, Mr. Tan 
had been an executive director of Simsen International Corporation Limited (stock code: 993), a company listed 
on the Stock Exchange, and a director of its subsidiaries, responsible for its metal trading and mining operations.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Executive directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Ming, aged 47, has been a director of Xinjiang Tianmu since 2002. Mr. Zhang has over 10 years’ 
experience in the mining industry. From 1998 to 2000, he had been a director of Hami Economy and Trade 
Committee (哈密市經濟貿易委員會) and Hami Gold Bureau (哈密黃金局). Thereafter, Mr. Zhang has been a 
director of various companies engaged in exploration and development of gold mines and nickel-copper mines 
in Xinjiang and exploration projects of gold, copper, nickel, lead and zinc in Xinjiang. Since 2005, Mr. Zhang has 
been a director of GobiMin Inc.. Its subsidiaries and associate companies are principally engaged in exploration 
of a gold mine and prospecting exploration projects of gold, copper and nickel in Xinjiang, PRC. Mr. Zhang is 
responsible for the development its mining business in Xinjiang, PRC.

Independent non-executive directors

Ms. Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna, aged 58, is the director of Chan & Wat, Certified Public Accountants. She 
is a member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, the Hong Kong Institute of Company 
Secretaries, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, the Association of Professionals in Business Management, the 
Society of Registered Financial Planners and the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. She is appointed as a member 
of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance). Ms. Tsang has over 29 years of company secretarial, 
corporate affairs, and related legal working experience in major commercial corporations and in professional 
firms. She has an MBA and a postgraduate certificate in Professional Accounting. She was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director in October 2003.

Mr. Chan Mei Ying, Spencer, aged 57, is a director of Ubique Solutions Ltd. Mr. Chan has all-round experience 
in corporate finance, business development, sales and marketing. Mr. Chan studied Computer Science in 
Melbourne, Australia, before receiving a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University 
of Hong Kong. He also has attended an executive management program at INSEAD, Fontainbleau, France. Mr. 
Chan is currently a non-executive director of Sino Strategic International Limited (stock code: SSI), a company 
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. He was appointed as an independent non-excutive director in 
October 2005.

Mr. Lam Kwai Yan, aged 53, has a degree in Business Studies from the University of Southern Queensland, 
Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the New Zealand 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, and a fellow member of the CPA Australia. Mr. Lam has worked for various 
large corporations, first starting his accounting career with Cable & Wireless (H.K.) Ltd. and worked in New 
Zealand for a number of years before returning to Hong Kong and starting an accounting practice. He has vast 
experiences with SME’s, including auditing and consulting on re-organisation and restructuring businesses 
that have cross-border operations in China. His work also included advising and consulting for listed public 
companies. Mr. Lam was appointed as an independent non-executive director in December 2008.

Ms. Chan Choi Ling, aged 38, is a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong. She obtained her Bachelor of Laws degree in 
1998 from the City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Chan has over 10 years’ experience in civil litigation. Ms. Chan 
currently practices as a solicitor in a law firm in Hong Kong. She was appointed as an independent non-executive 
director in September 2012.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company strives to attain and maintain the highest standard of corporate governance as it believes that 
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding 
shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group emphasize a quality board, sound internal control, 
and transparency and accountability to all its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (“Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code 
(taking effect from 1 April 2012) (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing 
Rules”). The Company had complied with all Code Provisions as set out in the Code, throughout the year ended 
31 March 2013, except for Code Provision A.2.1.

Code Provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and 
should not be performed by the same individual. The positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”) of the Company are both currently carried on by Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan. The Board considers 
that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person facilitates the execution of the 
Group’s business strategies and maximizes effectiveness of its operation. The Board as well as nomination 
committee shall nevertheless review the structure of the Board from time to time and shall consider the 
appropriate move to take should suitable circumstance arises.

Board of Directors

Composition and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives of the Company and overseeing the management 
of the business. The directors are charged with the task of promoting the success of the Company and making 
decisions in the best interest of the Company.

The Board also takes up the corporate governance functions pursuant to the Code. During the year, the Board as 
a whole, is responsible for the following corporate governance functions:

– To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the board;

– To review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior 
management;

– To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

– To review the issuer’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board of Directors (Continued)

Composition and Responsibilities (Continued)

The Board led by its Chairman, Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan, approves and monitors group wide strategies and 
policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance of the Company, and supervises the 
management. Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the leadership of the 
Chairman.

The Board currently comprises twelve directors (“Directors”), including eight Executive Directors (including 
Chairman of the Board) and four Independent Non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. CHENG Kin Kwan (Chairman & CEO)
Mr. LAW Kwai Lam
Ms. LEUNG Mei Sheung, Eliza
Ms. ZHENG Ying Yu
Mr. FUNG Chun Pong, Louis
Mr. LIAO Yun
Mr. TAN Felipe (appointed on 30 September 2012)
Mr. ZHANG Ming (appointed on 30 September 2012)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. TSANG Wai Chun, Marianna
Mr. CHAN Mei Ying, Spencer
Mr. LAM Kwai Yan
Ms. CHAN Choi Ling (appointed on 30 September 2012)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” 
section on pages 10 to 11 of this annual report.

Board Meetings

The Board held 9 meetings during the year ended 31 March 2013 with an average attendance rate of 
approximately 97%.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board of Directors (Continued)

Composition and Responsibilities (Continued)

Directors’ Attendance at Board/Board Committee/General Meetings

Here below are details of all Directors’ attendance at the board meeting, board committee meetings and general 
meetings held during the year 31 March 2013:–

Board Meeting

Audit
Committee

Meeting

Remuneration
Committee

Meeting

Nomination
Committee

Meeting

2012
Annual

General
Meeting

Extraordinary
General
Meeting

Number of Meetings Attended/Held

Executive Directors:
CHENG Kin Kwan 9/9 – – – 1/1 1/1
LAW Kwai Lam 8/9 – – – 1/1 1/1
LEUNG Mei Sheung, Eliza 9/9 – – – 1/1 1/1
ZHENG Ying Yu 9/9 – – – 1/1 1/1
FUNG Chun Pong, Louis 9/9 – – – 1/1 1/1
LIAO Yun 9/9 – – – 1/1 1/1
TAN Felipe 2/2(Note) – – – – –
ZHANG Ming 2/2(Note) – – – – –

Independent Non-executive
 Directors:
TSANG Wai Chun, Marianna 9/9 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1 –
CHAN Mei Ying, Spencer 7/9 2/4 1/1 1/1 1/1 –
LAM Kwai Yan 9/9 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1 –
CHAN Choi Ling 2/2(Note) – – – – –

Note:

Mr. Felipe TAN , Mr. ZHANG Ming and Ms. CHAN Choi Ling were appointed as Directors of the Company, all took effect from 30 

September 2012, and all of them attended all board meetings held after their appointment.

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for attending regular and other board or board 
committee meetings in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. Meeting agendas and other 
relevant information are provided to the Directors in advance of board or board committee meetings. All Directors 
are consulted to include additional matters in the agenda for such meetings.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal

The Company’s Articles of Association have been amended to provide that all directors appointed to fill a casual 
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment and 
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least 
once every three years.

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the Company when they are appointed as 
Directors. These service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other party 
not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors was appointed for a term of one year, subject to re-election.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting has any service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the 
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than the statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations of independence were received from each of the Company’s 
Independent Non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all Independent Non-
executive Directors are considered to be independent.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the securities transactions by directors on terms no less 
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having 
made specific enquiry of all directors, all directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard 
of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by the Company 
throughout the year ended 31 March 2013.

Directors’ Participation in Continuous Professional Trainings

During the year under review, the Directors received from the Company from time to time the updates on laws, 
rules and regulations which might be relevant to their roles, duties and functions as director of a listed company.

In addition, the Company invited professionals to provide trainings to the Directors from time to time regarding 
the latest developments on the GEM Listing Rules to refresh their knowledge, if and when necessary.
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Board Committee

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely:

Ms. Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Mei Ying, Spencer
Mr. Lam Kwai Yan

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and 
internal control system of the Group.

Under the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the committee is required, amongst other things, to oversee 
the relationship with the external auditors, review the Group’s preliminary results, interim results and annual 
financial statements and the connected transactions, monitor compliance with statutory and GEM Listing Rules 
requirements, review the scope, extent and effectiveness of the activities of the Group’s internal control, engage 
independent legal or other advisers as it determines is necessary and perform investigations.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings. Details of the attendance of the 
members of the Audit Committee in the said meetings are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance 
at Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the Audit Committee during the year:

– To make recommendation to the Board on reappointment of the external auditor;

– To monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in 
accordance with applicable standards, and to discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of the 
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

– To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual report, accounts and the half-year 
report, and to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in them.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up in March 2006 and comprises three Independent Non-executive 
Directors, namely:

Mr. Chan Mei Ying, Spencer (Chairman)
Ms. Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna
Mr. Lam Kwai Yan
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Board Committee (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The primary aim of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate transparent procedures for developing 
remuneration policies and compensation packages for the employees of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting. Details of the attendance of the 
members of the Audit Committee in the said meetings are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance 
at Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.

The summary of work of the Remuneration Committee during the year:

– To determine the policy for the remuneration of executive directors, assessing performance of executive 
directors and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts;

– To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of 
directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for 
developing policy on such remuneration and to place recommendations before the Board concerning the 
total remuneration and/or benefits granted to the Directors from time to time;

– To review and approve the senior management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate 
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee in March 2006 in compliance with the GEM Listing 
Rules, terms of reference of which have been adopted by the Company are consistent with the requirements of 
the Code. The Nomination Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Lam Kwai Yan (Chairman)
Ms. Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna
Mr. Chan Mei Ying, Spencer

The primary aim of the Nomination Committee is to review and make recommendation to the Board when the 
vacancies occurred. The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year or as needed where vacancies arise 
at the Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. Details of the attendance of the 
members of the Audit Committee in the said meetings are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance 
at Board/Board Committee/General Meetings” above.
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Board Committee (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The summary of work of the Nomination Committee during the year:

– To review and monitor the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) 
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes;

– To identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as additional Directors or to fill Board 
vacancies as and when they arise. The criteria to be adopted by the Board in considering each individual 
shall be their ability to contribute to the effective carrying out by the Board of its responsibilities;

– To make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of 
Directors and succession planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the fees payable to the auditors in respect of the audit and non-audit services 
were as follows:

Types of services Amount (HK$)

Annual audit services 950,000
Acting as reporting accountants to report on financial information included in 

investment circular 1,580,000
Non-audit services – Taxation 86,500
Non-audit services – Interim review 280,000

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The following statements, which set out the responsibilities of the Directors in relation to the financial statements, 
should be read in conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 30 to 31 of 
this annual report which acknowledges the reporting responsibilities of the Group’s auditors.
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Accountability and Audit (Continued)

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements (Continued)

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true 
and fair view. In preparing the financial statements which give a true and fair view, the Directors consider that 
the Group uses appropriate accounting policies that are consistently applied, makes judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent, and that all applicable accounting standards are followed. The Directors are 
responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting records which disclose the financial position of the 
Group and enable the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
and the applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard 
the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. Having made appropriate 
enquiries, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements. The Directors in particular consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications and 
experience of staff to the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and 
budget.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Audit Committee assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an effective system of 
internal control. It reviews the process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk assessment 
process, and the way in which business and control risks are managed.

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of internal control and prompt and 
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities to the shareholders and to the public.

The internal control system is designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, safeguard 
assets against unauthorised use and disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records and the 
truth and fairness of the financial statements, and ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. It 
aims to achieve reasonable assurance against material mis-statement or loss in the management of the Group’s 
business activities.

Company Secretary

The Company announced that Mr. Law Kwai Lam has been tendered his resignation as the Company Secretary 
with effect from 17 July 2012 (the “Announcement”). Save as disclosed in the Announcement, Mr. Law Kwai Lam 
has confirmed that there are no matters in connection with his resignation of the position he has held that need to 
be brought to the attention of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the shareholders of the Company.

In the Announcement, the Company also announced that Ms. Leung Wai Sze (“Ms. Leung”) has been appointed 
as the Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 17 July 2012. Ms. Leung is currently the Financial 
Controller of the Company.

During the period from 17 July 2012 to 31 March 2013, Ms. Leung undertook over 15 hours’ professional training 
to update her skill and knowledge in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.
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Changes in Constitutional Documents

For the year ended 31 March 2013, there is no significant change in its constitutional documents.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Way by Which Shareholders Can Convene Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)/
Put Forward Proposal

According to the Company’s Articles of Association and as provided by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
twentieth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company 
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an EGM to be called by the Board 
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within three 
(3) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to 
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and 
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed 
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

And, if a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a Director retiring for election as a Director at the 
coming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”), the shareholder should deposit a written notice of 
nomination at the head office of the Company or at the office of the Company’s Branch Share Registrar within 
7-day period commencing from the day after the dispatch of the AGM notice (or such other period as may be 
determined and announced by the Director from time to time).

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

Specific enquiries from shareholders to the Board can be sent in writing to the Company at our head office in 
Hong Kong or by email through info@timeless.com.hk stated on the Company’s website.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company and is engaged in the provision of computer consultancy 
and software maintenance services, software development and sales of computer hardware and software.

The principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 
32.

The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend nor transfer of any amount to reserves (2012: nil).

Share Capital

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 32 to the financial 
statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out on page 35 and 
note 41 to the financial statements, respectively.

The Company had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2013 (2012: nil).

Investment Property and Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in investment property and property, plant and equipment of the Group and the 
Company during the year are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements, respectively.
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Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Cheng Kin Kwan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Law Kwai Lam
Leung Mei Sheung, Eliza
Zheng Ying Yu
Fung Chun Pong, Louis
Liao Yun
Felipe Tan (appointed on 30 September 2012)
Zhang Ming (appointed on 30 September 2012)

Independent non-executive directors:

Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna
Chan Mei Ying, Spencer
Lam Kwai Yan
Chan Choi Ling (appointed on 30 September 2012)

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan, Mr. Fung Chun 
Pong, Louis, Ms. Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna and Mr. Chan Mei Ying, Spencer retire and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election.

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the Company when he or she is appointed 
as a director of the Company. These service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated by either party 
giving to the other party not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive directors was appointed for a term of one year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting has any service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the 
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares 
and Underlying Shares of the Company

At 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief executive of the Company and 
their associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, 
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (“SFO”), or otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth 
Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), were as follows:

Long Positions

(a) Ordinary Shares of HK$0.05 Each of the Company

Number of ordinary shares held in the capacity of 

Name of director
Beneficial 

owner
Controlled 

corporation
Total number 

of shares
Percentage of 
shareholding

Cheng Kin Kwan 221,440,000 – 221,440,000 14.01%
Law Kwai Lam 10,000,000 28,325,000* 38,325,000 2.43%
Leung Mei Sheung, Eliza 14,492,000 – 14,492,000 0.92%
Zheng Ying Yu 4,900,000 – 4,900,000 0.31%
Fung Chun Pong, Louis 488,000 – 488,000 0.03%
Liao Yun 4,510,000 – 4,510,000 0.29%
Felipe Tan 10,000 304,912,000* 304,922,000 19.30%

* These shares were held by private companies which are wholly-owned by Mr. Law Kwai Lam or owned as to 

90.01% by Mr. Felipe Tan respectively.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares 
and Underlying Shares of the Company (Continued)

Long Positions (Continued)

(b) Interests in Shares of Associated Corporation of the Company

Name of director
Name of 
associated corporation Capacity

Number of 
shares/

registered 
capital

Percentage of 
interest in 

the registered 
capital of the 

associated 
corporation

Felipe Tan Goffers Management Limited Interest of controlled 
corporation

200* 100%

Goffers Resources Limited Interest of controlled 
corporation

1,000 100%

Kangshun HK Limited Interest of controlled 
corporation

1,000 100%

Kangshun Investments Limited Interest of controlled 
corporation

1,000 100%

Xinjiang Tianmu Mineral 
Resources Development Co. Ltd

Interest of controlled 
corporation

RMB20,000,000 51%

* 98 shares (representing 49%) are held by Mr. Felipe Tan through Starmax Holdings Limited whereas 102 shares 

(representing 51%) are pledged to Starmax Holdings Limited as security of the payment obligations of the Group 

under the promissory note.

(c) Interests in Debentures of Associated Corporation of the Company

Name of director
Name of 
associated corporation Capacity

Amount of 
debentures

Felipe Tan Time Kingdom Limited Interest of controlled 
corporation

HK$60,000,000*

* The outstanding balance of the promissory note issued to Starmax Holdings Limited which is owned as to 90.01% 

by Mr. Felipe Tan.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares 
and Underlying Shares of the Company (Continued)

Long Positions (Continued)

(d) Options to Subscribe for Ordinary Shares of the Company

Particulars of the directors’ interests in share options to subscribe for shares in the Company pursuant to 
the Company’s 2003 share option scheme were as follows:

Number of share options and number of underlying shares 

Name of directors Date of grant Exercisable period

Exercise 
price 

per share

Outstanding 
at 

1.4.2012

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Forfeited 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
at 

31.3.2013
HK$

Cheng Kin Kwan 5.9.2003 5.9.2003–4.9.2013 0.2280 6,960,000 – – – 6,960,000
8.12.2003 8.12.2003–7.12.2013 0.2130 800,000 – – – 800,000
25.2.2004 25.2.2004–24.2.2014 0.1900 7,700,000 – – – 7,700,000

Law Kwai Lam 5.9.2003 5.9.2003–4.9.2013 0.2280 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000
9.1.2004 9.1.2004–8.1.2014 0.1900 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000
28.2.2005 28.2.2005–27.2.2015 0.0722 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000
26.9.2006 26.9.2006–25.9.2016 0.0772 3,500,000 – – – 3,500,000
18.6.2007 18.6.2007–17.6.2017 0.2980 800,000 – – – 800,000

Leung Mei Sheung, Eliza 5.9.2003 5.9.2003–4.9.2013 0.2280 5,500,000 – – – 5,500,000
8.12.2003 8.12.2003–7.12.2013 0.2130 4,300,000 – – – 4,300,000
25.2.2004 25.2.2004–24.2.2014 0.1900 5,800,000 – – – 5,800,000

Zheng Ying Yu 5.9.2003 5.9.2003–4.9.2013 0.2280 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000
8.12.2003 8.12.2003–7.12.2013 0.2130 400,000 – – – 400,000
9.1.2004 9.1.2004–8.1.2014 0.1900 6,100,000 – – – 6,100,000
13.12.2004 13.12.2004–12.12.2014 0.0982 50,000 – – – 50,000

Fung Chun Pong, Louis 5.9.2003 5.9.2003–4.9.2013 0.2280 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000
9.1.2004 9.1.2004–8.1.2014 0.1900 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000
19.4.2004 19.4.2004–18.4.2014 0.2096 300,000 – – – 300,000
24.3.2006 24.3.2006–23.3.2016 0.1530 300,000 – – – 300,000
18.6.2007 18.6.2007–17.6.2017 0.2980 300,000 – – – 300,000

Liao Yun 5.9.2003 5.9.2003–4.9.2013 0.2280 800,000 – – – 800,000
26.11.2003 26.11.2003–25.11.2013 0.2300 400,000 – – – 400,000
9.1.2004 9.1.2004–8.1.2014 0.1900 790,000 – – – 790,000
19.4.2004 19.4.2004–18.4.2014 0.2096 300,000 – – – 300,000
16.9.2004 16.9.2004–15.9.2014 0.0870 500,000 – – – 500,000
30.9.2004 30.9.2004–29.9.2014 0.0900 500,000 – – – 500,000
13.12.2004 13.12.2004–12.12.2014 0.0982 300,000 – – – 300,000
22.9.2005 22.9.2005–21.9.2015 0.0920 400,000 – – – 400,000
24.3.2006 24.3.2006–23.3.2016 0.1530 300,000 – – – 300,000

Tsang Wai Chun, Marianna 24.3.2006 24.3.2006–23.3.2016 0.1530 500,000 – – – 500,000
26.9.2006 26.9.2006–25.9.2016 0.0772 1,500,000 – – – 1,500,000

Chan Mei Ying, Spencer 24.3.2006 24.3.2006–23.3.2016 0.1530 500,000 – – – 500,000     

58,600,000 – – – 58,600,000     
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares 
and Underlying Shares of the Company (Continued)

Long Positions (Continued)

Save as disclosed above and other than nominee shares in certain wholly-owned subsidiaries held by certain 
directors in trust for the Group, at 31 March 2013, none of the directors or chief executive or any of their 
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of 
the Company or its associated corporations which fall to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in 
the register referred to therein or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and 
Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2013, the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that 
other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain directors and the chief executive, the following 
shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interest in the issued share capital of the Company.

Name of substantial shareholder

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Number of 
share options 

and underlying 
shares held

Aggregate 
long position

Percentage of 
the issued share 

capital as at 
31 March 2013

Educational Information Technology 
(HK) Company Limited (note 1) 108,057,374 – 108,057,374 6.84%

Starmax Holdings Limited (note 2) 304,912,000 – 304,912,000 19.30%

Notes:

(1) These shares were held in trust for 寧夏教育信息技術股份有限公司 (Ningxia Educational Information Technology Company 

Limited), a company which is owned as to 25% by the Group.

(2) Starmax Holdings Limited is beneficially owned as to 90.01% by Mr. Felipe Tan who also directly holds 10,000 shares.

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares and 
underlying shares of the Company”, at 31 March 2013, the Company has not been notified of any other interests 
or short positions in the issued share capital as at 31 March 2013.
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Share Options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 28 April 2003 are set out in note 33 to the financial 
statements.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which 
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year 
or at any time during the year.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received written confirmation from each of its independent non-executive directors in respect 
of their independence during the year and all independent non-executive directors are still being considered to be 
independent.

Connected Transaction

None of the “Related party transactions” as disclosed in the note 43 to the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2013 constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing 
connected transaction under the GEM Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related party transactions” constituted connected transactions as defined in the GEM 
Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the relevant requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing 
Rules during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised approximately 
92% (2012: 40%) of the Group’s total sales while the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer was 
approximately 74% (2012: 14%) of the Group’s total sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers comprised 
approximately 75% (2012: 42%) of the Group’s total purchases while the purchases attributable to the Group’s 
largest supplier was approximately 42% (2012: 10%) of the Group’s total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their associates or any shareholder, which to the knowledge of 
the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in the share capital of 
any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up on the basis of their merit, qualifications and 
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the remuneration committee, having regard to 
the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of 
the share option scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

Corporate Governance

Principal corporate governance policies adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 12 to 20.

Competing Interest

Mr. Felipe Tan and Mr. Zhang Ming hold shareholdings and directorships in GobiMin Inc., the shares of which are 
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada (stock code: GMN. V). Its subsidiaries and associate companies 
are principally engaged in exploration of a gold mine and prospecting exploration projects of gold, copper and 
nickel in Xinjiang, PRC. All of them are in exploration or prospecting stage and are not yet in production, whereas 
the mining business of the Group are in production stage. In this regard, Mr. Felipe Tan and Mr. Zhang Ming are 
considered to have interests in businesses which might compete, either directly or indirectly with the businesses 
of the Group.

The abovementioned competing businesses are operated and managed by companies within independent 
management and administration. In addition, the Board is independent of the boards of the abovementioned 
companies. Accordingly, the Group is therefore capable of carrying on business independently of, and at arm’s 
length from the said competing business.

Management Contract

No management contract in force during the year for the management and administration of the whole or any 
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its directors as at the 
date of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

Events After the Reporting Period

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.

Auditors

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2013 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term 
of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB 
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting. The accounts for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2012 were audited 
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng. In March 2012, the practice of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng was reorganised as 
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. Save for the above, there has been no other change in the auditors of the 
Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Kin Kwan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 21 June 2013
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31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIMELESS SOFTWARE LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Timeless Software Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 32 to 121, which comprise the consolidated and company 
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2013, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and 
to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Jonathan T. S. Lai
Practising Certificate Number: P04165

Hong Kong, 21 June 2013
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Notes 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 7 204,866 25,785
Other income and gains 2,367 1,600
Purchase and production costs (105,404) (21,218)
Staff costs (30,423) (19,056)
Depreciation and amortisation (26,670) (973)
Acquisition-related costs (7,146) –
Other expenses (18,833) (14,428)
Fair value changes on investment property – (1,639)
Loss on disposal of investment property (588) –
Gain on disposal of equity interest in a jointly controlled entity 19 – 15,589
Write off/impairment of goodwill 16 (5,436) (1,298)
Net gains on investments held for trading 7,709 3,334
Finance costs 8 (1,578) (5)
Share of profits of associates 18 1,657 1,239  

Profit/(loss) before tax 20,521 (11,070)
Income tax expense 11 (22,371) –  

Loss for the year 9 (1,850) (11,070)  

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of income tax
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 4,932 1,868
Reclassification adjustments on exchange differences 

upon disposal of equity interest in a jointly controlled entity 19 – (66)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 18 484 1,088  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 5,416 2,890  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 3,566 (8,180)  
Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Company (27,611) (11,050)
Non-controlling interests 25,761 (20)  

(1,850) (11,070)  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company (25,657) (8,281)
Non-controlling interests 29,223 101  

3,566 (8,180)  

HK cents HK cents
Loss per share
– Basic and diluted 12 (1.78) (0.92)  
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Notes 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment property 13 – 9,348
Property, plant and equipment 14 47,391 2,838
Other intangible assets 17 363,904 –
Interests in associates 18 7,571 5,430
Prepaid lease payments 20 7,394 –
Deposits 23 20,235 –
Land rehabilitation costs 21 7,763 –  

454,258 17,616  

Current assets
Inventories 22 33,550 3,044
Prepaid lease payments 20 186 –
Trade and other receivables 23 68,229 15,452
Investments held for trading 24 17,985 17,533
Bank balances and cash 25 55,242 63,045  

175,192 99,074  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 28,349 6,157
Obligations under a finance lease 27 – 24
Amount due to a related company 28 700 –
Dividends payable to non-controlling interests 46,816 –
Promissory note 29 11,317 –
Current tax liabilities 4,326 –  

91,508 6,181  

Net current assets 83,684 92,893  

Total assets less current liabilities 537,942 110,509  

Non-current liabilities
Promissory note 29 49,809 –
Provision for land rehabilitation 30 9,872 –
Deferred tax liabilities 31 50,947 –  

110,628 –  

Net assets 427,314 110,509  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 32 79,013 65,316
Reserves 54,211 44,994  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 133,224 110,310
Non-controlling interests 294,090 199  

Total equity 427,314 110,509  

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2013 and 
are signed on its behalf by:

CHENG KIN KWAN FUNG CHUN PONG, LOUIS
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Director
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Notes 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 642 706
Investments in subsidiaries 15 8,100 8,100
Interests in associates 18 7,571 5,430  

16,313 14,236  

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 23 3,298 4,442
Amounts due from subsidiaries 28 68,877 10,300
Investments held for trading 24 17,985 17,533
Bank balances and cash 25 19,334 46,889  

109,494 79,164  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 1,840 849
Obligations under a finance lease 27 – 24
Amounts due to subsidiaries 28 42,791 42,796  

44,631 43,669  

Net current assets 64,863 35,495  

Total assets less current liabilities 81,176 49,731  

Net assets 81,176 49,731  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 32 79,013 65,316
Reserves 41 2,163 (15,585)  

Total equity 81,176 49,731  

CHENG KIN KWAN FUNG CHUN PONG, LOUIS
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Director
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Share 
options 
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

Property 
revaluation 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Accumulated 

deficit

Attributable 
to owners 

of the 
Company

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 April 2011 56,728 637,996 2,165 1,176 1,061 5,627 (611,097) 93,656 2,656 96,312          

Loss for the year – – – – – – (11,050) (11,050) (20) (11,070)

Other comprehensive 
income for the year – – – 935 – 1,834 – 2,769 121 2,890          

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the year – – – 935 – 1,834 (11,050) (8,281) 101 (8,180)          

Recognition of equity-settled share-
based payments – – 241 – – – – 241 – 241

Placing of ordinary shares (note 32) 8,400 16,800 – – – – – 25,200 – 25,200

Issue of ordinary shares under 
employee share option plan 188 305 (163) – – – – 330 – 330

Transaction costs attributable to 
issue of new ordinary shares – (994) – – – – – (994) – (994)

Release of reserve upon 
share options forfeited – – (52) – – – 52 – – –

Acquisition of non-controlling 
interests (note 38(b)) – – – – – 643 (485) 158 (2,558) (2,400)          

Balance at 31 March 2012 and
1 April 2012 65,316 654,107 2,191 2,111 1,061 8,104 (622,580) 110,310 199 110,509

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – – – (27,611) (27,611) 25,761 (1,850)

Other comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the year – – – 416 (1,061) 1,538 1,061 1,954 3,462 5,416          

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the year – – – 416 (1,061) 1,538 (26,550) (25,657) 29,223 3,566          

Recognition of equity-settled 
share-based payments – – 2,301 – – – – 2,301 – 2,301

Issue of ordinary shares under 
employee share option plan 197 315 (173) – – – – 339 – 339

Issue of Consideration 
Shares (note 32) 13,500 31,590 – – – – – 45,090 – 45,090

Non-controlling interests arising on 
business combination (note 39) – – – – – – – – 282,690 282,690

Transaction costs attributable to 
issue of new ordinary shares – (206) – – – – – (206) – (206)

Release of reserve upon share 
options forfeited – – (158) – – – 158 – – –

Dividends payable to non-controlling 
interests – – – – – – – – (18,225) (18,225)

Disposal of interest in a subsidiary 
without loss of control (note 38(a)) – – – – – (61) 1,108 1,047 203 1,250          

Balance at 31 March 2013 79,013 685,806 4,161 2,527 – 9,581 (647,864) 133,224 294,090 427,314
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Notes 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax 20,521 (11,070)
Adjustments for:
Interest income (502) (557)
Interest expense 1,578 5
Share of profits of associates (1,657) (1,239)
Acquisition-related costs 7,146 –
Depreciation and amortisation 26,670 973
Gain on disposal of equity interest in a jointly controlled entity 19 – (15,589)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 (105)
Write off/impairment of goodwill 16 5,436 1,298
Fair value changes on investment property – 1,639
Loss on disposal of investment property 588 –
Net gains on investments held for trading (7,709) (3,334)
Share-based payment expense 2,301 241  

54,374 (27,738)

Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (6,075) 161
Increase in trade and other receivables (18,654) (5,690)
Decrease in investments held for trading 6,253 17
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (12,748) 219
Decrease in amount due to a related company (9,964) –  

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 13,186 (33,031)
Income taxes paid (26,455) –  

Net cash used in operating activities (13,269) (33,031)  

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 502 557
Dividends received from listed equity securities 1,004 346
Payments for property, plant and equipment (17,210) (1,661)
Payments for mining rights (168) –
Payments for exploration rights and assets (2,378) –
Increase in time deposit with original maturity of three months or 

more and pledged bank deposits – (124)
Proceeds from disposal of equity interest in a jointly controlled entity – 2,817
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 2,096
Proceeds from disposal of investment property 8,877 –
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries 39 53,134 –
Payments for acquisition-related costs 39 (7,146) –  

Net cash generated by investing activities 36,615 4,031  
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Notes 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity shares 339 25,530
Payment for transaction costs attributable to 

issue of new ordinary shares (206) (994)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 38(b) – (2,400)
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in 

a subsidiary (without losing control) 38(a) 1,250 –
Repayment of promissory note (3,000) –
Repayment of obligations under a finance lease (24) (45)
Interest paid (472) (5)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (29,499) –  

Net cash (used in)/generated by financing activities (31,612) 22,086  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (8,266) (6,914)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 62,921 68,636
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 463 1,199  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 55,118 62,921  

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash 25 55,242 63,045
Time deposit with original maturity of three months or 

more and pledged bank deposits 25 (124) (124)  

55,118 62,921  
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1. General

Timeless Software Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and 
its shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company 
are disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and is principally engaged in the provision of 
computer consultancy and software maintenance services, software development and sales of computer 
hardware and software.

The principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) has applied the 
following new and revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), HKFRS(s), amendments and 
interpretations (“HK(IFRIC) – Int”) (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “new and revised HKFRSs”) 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”):

Amendments to HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for 
First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on the Group’s financial 
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 1 Government Loans2

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities2

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and Transition 
Disclsoures4

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments4

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 
and HKFRS 12

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 
Transition Guidance2

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 
and HKAS 27

Investment Entities3

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements2

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements2

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities2

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income1

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits2

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements2

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities3

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

• All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. 
Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of 
subsequent reporting periods. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at 
their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities 
may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity 
investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

• With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is 
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, 
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of 
financial liabilities attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair 
value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or 
loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, with earlier application 
permitted.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a significant impact on the 
amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s 
financial assets, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review 
has been completed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective (Continued)

New and Revised Standards on Consolidation, Joint Arrangements, Associates and Disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and disclosures 
was issued, including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as 
revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that deal 
with consolidated financial statements. HK (SIC) – Int 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities 
will be withdrawn upon the effective date of HKFRS 10. Under HKFRS 10, there is only one basis for 
consolidation, that is, control. In addition, HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that contains three 
elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s 
returns. Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement 
of which two or more parties have joint control should be classified. HK (SIC) – Int 13 Jointly Controlled 
Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers will be withdrawn upon the effective date of HKFRS 
11. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending 
on the rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are 
three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled 
operations. In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31 can be accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting or proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure requirements 
in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain 
transitional guidance on the application of these five HKFRSs for the first time.

These five standards, together with the amendments relating to the transitional guidance, are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with earlier application permitted provided all of these 
standards are applied at the same time.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective (Continued)

New and Revised Standards on Consolidation, Joint Arrangements, Associates and Disclosures 
(Continued)

The directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for the annual period beginning 1 April 2013. The application of these five standards may 
have a significant impact on the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. However, the 
directors have not yet performed a detailed analysis of the impact of the application of these standards and 
hence have not yet quantified the extent of the impact.

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair 
value measurements. The standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, 
and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies 
to both financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs require 
or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except in specified 
circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 13 are more extensive than those in 
the current standards. For example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair 
value hierarchy currently required for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application 
permitted.

The directors anticipate that the application of the new standard may affect certain amounts reported in 
the consolidated financial statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
and the Related Disclosures

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offset of financial assets 
and financial liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a 
legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose information about rights of offset and related 
arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for financial instruments under an enforceable 
master netting agreement or similar arrangement.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
and the Related Disclosures (Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 
and interim periods within those annual periods. The disclosures should be provided retrospectively for 
all comparative periods. However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with retrospective application required.

The directors anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7 may result in 
more disclosures being made with regard to offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 introduce new terminology for the statement of comprehensive income and 
income statement. Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a statement of comprehensive income is renamed 
as a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and an income statement is renamed as 
a statement of profit or loss. The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income in either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. 
However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require items of other comprehensive income to be grouped into two 
categories in the other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific 
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the 
same basis. The amendments do not change the option to present items of other comprehensive income 
either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The 
presentation of items of other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when the amendments 
are applied in the future accounting periods.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle issued in June 2012

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle include a number of amendments to various 
HKFRSs. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
Amendments to HKFRSs include:

• amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;

• amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; and

• amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle Issued in June 2012 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarifies the difference between voluntary additional 
comparative information and the minimum required comparative information. Generally, the minimum 
required comparative period is the previous period. An entity must include comparative information in 
the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond 
the previous period. The additional comparative information does not need to contain a complete set of 
financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening statement of financial position as at the beginning 
of the preceding period must be presented when an entity changes its accounting policies; makes 
retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications, and that change has a material effect on the 
statement of financial position. However, the related notes to the opening statement of financial position as 
at the beginning of the preceding period are not required to be presented. The directors do not anticipate 
that the amendments will have a significant financial impact on the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16

The amendments to HKAS 16 clarify that spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment 
should be classified as property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition of property, plant and 
equipment in HKAS 16 and as inventory otherwise. The directors do not anticipate that the amendments to 
HKAS 16 will have a significant effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 32

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify that income tax on distributions to holders of an equity instrument and 
transaction costs of an equity transaction should be accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income 
Taxes. The directors anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 32 will have no material effect on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective (Continued)

HK (IFRIC) – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

HK (IFRIC) – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine applies to waste removal 
costs that are incurred in surface mining activity during the production phase of the mine (production 
stripping costs). Under the interpretation, the costs from this waste removal activity (stripping) which 
provide improved access to ore is recognised as a non-current asset (stripping activity asset) when certain 
criteria are met, whereas the costs of normal on-going operational stripping activities are accounted for in 
accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories. The stripping activity asset is accounted for as an addition to, or as 
an enhancement of, an existing asset and classified as tangible or intangible according to the nature of the 
existing asset of which it forms part.

HK (IFRIC) – Int 20 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Specific 
transitional provisions are provided to entities that apply HK (IFRIC) – Int 20 for the first time. However, 
HK (IFRIC) – Int 20 must be applied to production stripping costs incurred on or after the beginning of the 
earliest period presented. The application of the interpretation may have significant impact on amounts 
reported in the consolidated financial statements. However, the directors have not yet performed a detailed 
analysis of the impact of the application of the interpretation and hence have not yet quantified the extent 
of the impact.

The directors anticipate that the application of the other new and revised standards, amendments or 
interpretations will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include 
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise 
Market of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
investment properties and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in 
the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 
in exchange for assets.

The principle accounting policies are set out below.



46
Timeless Software Ltd. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the 
effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to 
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s Ownership Interests in Existing Subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in 
the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the assets (including any goodwill) and 
liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii) derecognises 
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest in the former subsidiary at the date when control is 
lost (including any components of other comprehensive income attributable to them), and (iii) recognises 
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest, 
with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. 
When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative 
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if 
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly 
to retained earnings as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the 
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when 
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Business Combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in 
a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their 
fair value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements 
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee 
Benefits respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or 
share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment 
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at 
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that 
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in 
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types 
of non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in 
another HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its 
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. 
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments 
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period 
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement 
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that 
existed at the acquisition date.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Business Combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not 
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and 
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an 
asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or 
loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) 
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the 
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed 
of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see 
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts 
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 
recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition 
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or 
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised 
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to control the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They 
are excluded from consolidation from the date that control ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any 
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends 
received and receivable.

Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor 
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for 
sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are initially recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share 
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates. When the Group’s share of losses 
of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, 
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising 
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as 
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, 
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment 
loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount 
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of 
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less 
costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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Investments in Associates (Continued)

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing significant influence over that associate, 
any retained investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair 
value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between the 
previous carrying amount of the associate attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is included 
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for 
all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the 
same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would 
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the 
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant influence 
over that associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in 
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Interests in Joint Ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic 
activity that is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions 
relating to the activities of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control).

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the Group’s share 
of jointly controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognised in the 
financial statements of the relevant entity and classified according to their nature. Liabilities and expenses 
incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis. 
Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of jointly controlled assets, and its share of 
joint venture expenses, are recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
transactions will flow to/from the Group and their amount can be measured reliably.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has 
an interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities.

The Group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using equity method of accounting, except when 
the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, interests in jointly 
controlled entities are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
of the joint controlled entities. When the Group’s share of losses of an jointly controlled entity exceeds the 
Group’s interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, 
form part of the Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising 
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint controlled entity.
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Interests in Joint Ventures (Continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for 
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising in a business combination (see the 
accounting policy above).

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the jointly controlled entity are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at 
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the relevant services have been rendered.

When the outcome of software development services can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised on 
the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the proportion that costs incurred to date 
bear to estimated total costs for each contract. When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering 
of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses 
recognised that are recoverable.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been 
established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of 
income can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in the 
accounting policy below.
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Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group As Lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group As Lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the 
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so 
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which 
case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see the 
accounting policy below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are 
incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense 
on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold Land for Own Use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each 
element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, 
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an 
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) 
are allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the 
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that 
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease 
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally 
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the 
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise 
except for:

• exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for 
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an 
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

• exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; 
and

• exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.
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Foreign Currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, 
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, 
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of 
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, 
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal 
involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal 
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the 
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the 
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed to non-controlling 
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of 
associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint 
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity under 
the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Retirement Benefit Costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the 
contributions.

Share-Based Payment Arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share Options Granted to Employees of the Company After 7 November 2002 and Vested on or After 
1 April 2005

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value 
of services received is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date 
and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity 
(share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding 
adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is 
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred 
to accumulated deficit.

Share Options Granted to Employees of the Company on or Before 7 November 2002, or Granted 
After 7 November 2002 and Vested Before 1 April 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the financial statements until such time as 
the options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in profit or loss in respect of the value of options 
granted. Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded as additional 
share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over the 
nominal value of the shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to 
their exercise date are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
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Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current Tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before 
tax” as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because of items of income 
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred Tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that 
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be 
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when 
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume 
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than 
through sale.

Current and Deferred Tax for the Year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax 
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or 
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings (classified as finance leases) held for use in 
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in 
progress as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes (construction in 
progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, 
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such 
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed 
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, 
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than construction in progress) less 
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method as follows:

Land and buildings 20 years
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of lease, and 8 to 20 years
Plant and machinery 8 years
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 to 8 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 
owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end 
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment Properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property 
under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in 
the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognised.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired Separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted 
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets 
that are acquired separately.

Exploration Rights and Assets

Exploration rights and assets are stated at cost less impairment losses. Exploration rights and assets 
include the cost of acquiring exploration rights, topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling, 
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial and technical feasibility studies, and 
expenditure incurred to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as in new areas of 
interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration property is capable of commercial production, 
exploration and evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to mining rights. The Group assesses 
exploration rights and assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess 
of the estimated recoverable amount, are written off to profit or loss.

Mining Rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Mining rights 
include the cost of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation costs, and the cost of acquiring 
interests in the mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights are amortised using the 
units of production method based on the proven and probable mineral reserves.
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Intangible Assets (Continued)

Derecognition of Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 
or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss 
when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets Other Than Goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are determined on a first-in-first-
out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs 
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts (if any).

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time 
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Provision for Land Rehabilitation

The Group is required to incur costs for restoration of the land after the underground sites have been 
mined. Provision for land rehabilitation is recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of 
past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provision is measured 
by reference to relevant rules and regulations applicable in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) at the 
end of the reporting period, and is discounted to their present value where the effect is material.

Land rehabilitation costs are provided in the period in which the obligation is identified and is capitalised 
to the land restoration costs. The costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimate useful 
lives.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value through 
profit or loss” (FVTPL), “held-to-maturity’ investments”, “available-for-sale” (AFS) financial assets and 
“loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and 
is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

Effective Interest Method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets 
classified as at FVTPL.

Financial Assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise; or
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Financial Assets at FVTPL (Continued)

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is 
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 
internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to 
be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the statement of comprehensive income.

Held-To-Maturity Investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity dates that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less any impairment (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on financial assets 
below).

AFS Financial Assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified as AFS financial assets and are traded in 
an active market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the carrying 
amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method and dividends on AFS equity investments are recognised in profit or loss.

Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve. When the investment is 
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of 
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity investments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the 
dividends is established.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

AFS Financial Assets (Continued)

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such 
unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each 
reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including deposits, trade and other receivables, 
amounts due from subsidiaries and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables 
where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost 
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as 
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed 
in subsequent periods (see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or 
loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not 
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve. 
In respect of AFS debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss 
if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments

Classification as Debt or Equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability 
and an equity instrument.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s 
own equity instruments.

Financial Liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments (Continued)

Financial Liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon 
initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise; or

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which 
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 
internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to 
be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid 
on the financial liability and is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts due to subsidiaries, obligations 
under a finance lease, amount due to a related company, dividends payable to non-controlling interests 
and promissory note) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Effective Interest Method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other than financial liabilities classified as at 
FVTPL.
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset 
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to 
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying 
amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise, and the part it no longer 
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference 
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the 
consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that 
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues 
to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those 
parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Related Parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person,

(i) has controls or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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(a) Categories of Financial Instruments

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Fair value through profit or loss

Investments held for trading 17,985 17,533 17,985 17,533
Loans and receivables 112,545 73,952 91,241 58,261

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 135,050 4,223 44,586 43,501    

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s and the Company’s major financial instruments include deposits, trade and other 
receivables, amounts due from subsidiaries, investments held for trading, bank balances and 
cash, trade and other payables, amounts due to subsidiaries, obligations under a finance lease, 
amount due to a related company, dividends payable to non-controlling interests and promissory 
note. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated 
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. 
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in respect of financial instruments or 
the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk Management

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign currency exchange rate will affect 
the Group’s financial results and its cash flows. The management considers that the Group is not 
exposed to significant foreign currency risk as majority of its transactions are denominated in Hong 
Kong dollars and Renminbi (functional currencies of the major group entities).

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management 
monitors foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise.
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(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

Foreign Currency Risk Management (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as 
follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
US dollar 6,259 33 33 33
Renminbi (“RMB”) 11,656 9,760 1 9,760
HK$ 2,724 2,724 – –    

Foreign Currency Sensitivity Analysis

Since HK$ is pegged to US$, relevant foreign currency risk is minimal. Accordingly, their fluctuation 
is excluded from the sensitivity analysis. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% 
increase and decrease in the RMB against HK$ and HK$ against RMB. 5% is the sensitivity rate 
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity 
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjustments 
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rate. A 
positive number below indicates a decrease in loss where RMB strengthens against HK$ and HK$ 
strengthens against RMB. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$ and HK$ weakening against 
RMB, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 583 488 – 488
HK$ 136 136 – –    

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent exchange risk as 
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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4. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate borrowings. The cash flow 
interest rate risk of the Group and the Company relates primarily to their variable-rate bank deposits. 
The management considers that the exposure to interest rate risk on bank deposits is insignificant. 
For borrowings which are fixed-rate instruments is insensitive to any change in interest rates. A 
change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect profit or loss. The Group 
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest 
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Other Price Risks

The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price risk through their investments in listed 
equity securities. The management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments 
with different risks. The Group’s and the Company’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on the 
fluctuation of market price of equity securities listed in the Stock Exchange. In addition, the Group 
has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure 
should the need arise.

Equity Price Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the 
end of the reporting period.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been 10% higher/lower (2012: 10% higher/
lower), loss for the year ended 31 March 2013 would decrease/increase by approximately 
HK$1,799,000 (2012: HK$1,753,000). This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of investments 
held for trading.

The Group’s and the Company’s sensitivity to investments held for trading increased during the year 
mainly due to the violent fluctuation in the stock market during the year. In management’s opinion, 
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent other price risk as the year end exposure 
does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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4. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Credit Risk Management

The Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to 
the Group and the Company due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising 
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated 
and company statements of financial position respectively.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group and the Company have delegated a 
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures 
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group and the 
Company review the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting 
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, 
the directors consider that the Group’s and the Company’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because majority of the counterparties are banks with high 
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies or good reputation.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk on trade receivables by geographical locations is in 
Hong Kong and in the PRC, which accounted for 7% and 93% respectively (2012: 22% and 78% 
respectively) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2013. In addition, the Group has certain 
concentration of credit risk as 64% (2012: 45%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the 
Group’s five largest customers which spread across diverse industries. The management closely 
monitors the settlement of trade receivables and reviews their recoverability to ensure that adequate 
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable amounts.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with 
high credit ratings or good reputation and on trade receivables, the Group does not have any other 
significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks 
associated with its financial assets.
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4. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Liquidity Risk Management

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group and the Company monitor and maintain a level of 
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s and the 
Company’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its 
non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash 
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be 
required to pay and include both interest and principal cash flows.

THE GROUP

Weighted
average

effective
interest rate On demand

Less than
1 year 1-5 years

Over 
5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amounts 

at 31 March
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2013
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities
Trade and other payables N/A – 26,408 – – 26,408 26,408
Amount due to a related company N/A 700 – – – 700 700
Dividends payable to non-

controlling interests N/A 46,816 – – – 46,816 46,816
Promissory note 2.93 – 11,351 44,200 10,300 65,851 61,126      

47,516 37,759 44,200 10,300 139,775 135,050      

2012
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables N/A – 4,199 – – 4,199 4,199
Obligations under a finance lease 7.5 – 26 – – 26 24      

– 4,225 – – 4,225 4,223
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4. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

THE COMPANY

Weighted
average

effective
interest rate On demand

Less than
1 year

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying 
amounts 

at 31 March
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2013
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables N/A – 1,795 1,795 1,795
Amounts due to subsidiaries N/A 42,791 – 42,791 42,791    

42,791 1,795 44,586 44,586    

2012
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables N/A – 681 681 681
Amounts due to subsidiaries N/A 42,796 – 42,796 42,796
Obligations under a finance lease 7.5 – 26 26 24    

42,796 707 43,503 43,501
    

(c) Fair value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows.

• The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions 
and traded in active markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid and ask 
prices respectively.

• The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding those described 
above) are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on 
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised 
in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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4. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(c) Fair value of Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated and company statements of 
financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to 
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
market for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include 
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2013
Investments held for trading 17,985 – – 17,985    

2012
Investments held for trading 17,533 – – 17,533    

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, there were no transfers of fair value 
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.
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5. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which includes obligations under a finance lease 
and promissory note, net of bank balances and cash) and equity attributable to owners of the Company 
(comprising issued share capital and reserves).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Net Debt to Equity Ratio

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost 
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital 
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and as well as the issue of new debts.

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Debts 61,126 24
Less: Bank balances and cash (55,242) (63,045)  

Net debt 5,884 (63,021)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 133,224 110,310  

Net debt to equity ratio 4.4% N/A  
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6. Crit ical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revisions affect only that 
period, or in the period of the revisions and future periods if the revisions affect both current and future 
periods.

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that 
management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends 
from subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the 
timing of the payment of the dividend, where the Group considers that if it is probable that the profits of 
the subsidiaries in the PRC will not be distributed in the foreseeable future, then no withholding taxes are 
provided.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of Goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate 
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in 
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material 
impairment loss may arise.
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6. Crit ical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of Mining and Exploration Assets and Property, Plant and Equipment

The carrying amounts of mining and exploration assets and property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be 
recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed in note 3. The recoverable amount of 
these assets, or, where appropriate, the cash-generating unit to which they belong, is calculated as the 
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to 
estimate the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and to choose a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Estimated Impairment Loss of Inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the 
current market condition and the historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It could change 
significantly as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor actions in response to changes to 
economic conditions.

Estimated Impairment of Trade and Other Receivables

The Group estimates the provisions for impairment of trade and other receivables by assessing their 
recoverability based on credit history and prevailing marking conditions. This requires the use of estimates 
and judgements. Provisions are applied to trade and other receivables where events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. Where the expectation is different from the 
original estimate, such difference will affect the carrying amount of trade and other receivables and thus 
the impairment loss in the period in which such estimate is changed. The Group reassesses the provisions 
at the end of each reporting period.

Provision for Land Rehabilitation

Provision for land rehabilitation has been estimated by reference to the current regulatory requirements 
and the area affected estimated by the management. Significant changes in the regulatory requirements 
in relation to such costs will result in changes to the provision amounts from period to period. In addition, 
the expected timing of cash outflows of such rehabilitation costs are estimated based on the expected 
completion date of the closure of the mines and is subject to any significant changes to the production plan.
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6. Crit ical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Mine Reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are inherently imprecise and represent only 
approximate amounts because of the significant judgements involved in developing such information. Mine 
reserves estimates can fluctuate from initial estimates when there are significant changes in any of the 
factors or assumptions used in estimating mine reserves, notably changes in the geology of the reserves 
and assumptions used in determining the economic feasibility of the reserves. This change is considered a 
change in estimates for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective basis at related amortisation 
rates.

7. Segment Information

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on information reported to the chief operating 
decision maker (the “CODM”), being the directors, for the purpose of resources allocation and performance 
assessment. In previous years, (i) software development; (ii) hardware sales; (iii) software sales; and (iv) 
e-Commerce services were reported to the CODM as stand-alone business units and constituted separate 
operating segments. Following a change in the Group’s operating and reporting structure as a result of 
business combination (note 39), accordingly, the CODM now reviews the Group’s internal reporting for the 
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment based on two operating segments as (i) the 
provision of computer consultancy and software maintenance services, software development, sales of 
computer hardware and software and e-Commerce services (“Computer hardware and software business”); 
and (ii) the exploration and exploitation of mines (“Mining business”).
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7. Segment Information (Continued)

Segment Revenues and Results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue
Computer hardware and software business 48,828 25,785
Mining business 156,038 –  

204,866 25,785  

Segment results
Computer hardware and software business (25,732) (28,564)
Mining business 46,513 –  

20,781 (28,564)
Interest income 502 557
Other income and gains 1,865 1,043
Unallocated corporate expenses (9,827) (2,624)
Fair value changes on investment property – (1,639)
Loss on disposal of investment property (588) –
Gain on disposal of equity interest in a jointly controlled entity – 15,589
Net gains on investments held for trading 7,709 3,334
Finance costs (1,578) (5)
Share of profits of associates 1,657 1,239  

Profit/(loss) before tax 20,521 (11,070)  

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There was no 
inter-segment revenue.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit/loss from each segment without allocation of 
interest income, other income and gains, unallocated corporate expenses, fair value changes on investment 
property, loss on disposal of investment property, gain on disposal of equity interest in a jointly controlled 
entity, net gains on investments held for trading, finance costs and share of profits of associates. This is 
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance.
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7. Segment Information (Continued)

Segment Assets and Liabilities

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment assets
Computer hardware and software business 33,191 19,767
Mining business 513,796 –  

Total segment assets 546,987 19,767
Unallocated 82,463 96,923  

Consolidated assets 629,450 116,690  

Segment liabilities
Computer hardware and software business 13,742 6,157
Mining business 127,268 –  

Total segment liabilities 141,010 6,157
Unallocated 61,126 24  

Consolidated liabilities 202,136 6,181  

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than interests in associates, investment 
property, amount and loan due from an associate, investments held for trading and bank balances 
and cash. Goodwill is allocated to segments as described in note 16; and

• all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than obligations under a finance lease and 
promissory note.
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7. Segment Information (Continued)

Other Segment Information

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Additions to non-current assets*
Computer hardware and software business 1,100 1,661
Mining business 451,547 –  

452,647 1,661  

Depreciation and amortisation
Computer hardware and software business 796 973
Mining business 25,874 –  

26,670 973  

* Additions to non-current assets include additions to property, plant and equipment, goodwill, other intangible assets, 

prepaid lease payments and land rehabilitation costs (including assets from the acquisition through business 

combination).

In addition to the depreciation and amortisation reported above, approximately HK$5,436,000 (2012: 
HK$1,298,000) was written off/impaired in respect of goodwill. The write off/impairment loss was 
attributable to the following reportable segments:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Write off/impairment of goodwill:
Computer hardware and software business – 1,298
Mining business 5,436 –  

5,436 1,298  
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7. Segment Information (Continued)

Other Segment Information (Continued)

Revenue From Major Products and Services

The Group’s revenue from its major products and services were as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Computer hardware 31,265 5,684
Computer software 7,482 8,803
Gold dores 152,231 –
Iron ore 3,807 –
Software development 4,498 9,809
e-Commerce services 5,583 1,489  

204,866 25,785  

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly situated in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of operations and information about its non-
current assets* by location of assets are detailed below:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover from external customers
Hong Kong 8,153 9,875
PRC 196,713 15,910  

204,866 25,785  

Non-current assets*
Hong Kong 1,337 1,279
PRC 445,350 10,907  

446,687 12,186  

* Non-current assets excluding interests in associates.
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7. Segment Information (Continued)

Information About Major Customers

Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group 
are as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A1 N/A3 3,532
Customer B2 152,142 N/A3

Customer C1 27,705 N/A3

  

1 Revenue from computer hardware and software business
2 Revenue from mining business
3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group

8. Finance Costs

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:
– a finance lease 2 5
– promissory note not wholly repayable within five years 1,576 –  

Total borrowing costs 1,578 5  
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9. Loss for the Year

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (note 10) 6,196 4,165
Other staff’s retirement benefits scheme contributions 2,157 1,275
Other staff’s equity-settled share-based payments 2,301 241
Other staff costs 19,769 13,375  

Total employee benefits expenses 30,423 19,056  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
– owned by the Group 1,920 932
– held under a finance lease 20 41

Amortisation of:
– prepaid lease payments 170 –
– land rehabilitation costs 918 –
– other intangible assets 23,642 –  

Total depreciation and amortisation 26,670 973  

Auditors’ remuneration 950 550
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 98,428 18,970
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 (105)
Operating lease rentals in respect of rented premises 2,977 3,053
Dividends from listed equity securities (1,004) (346)
Net foreign exchange gains (247) (282)
Interest income (502) (557)  

Gross rental income from investment property (163) (643)
Less: direct operating expenses from investment property that generated 

rental income during the year 39 85  

(124) (558)  
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10. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ Emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments (Continued)

Mr. Cheng Kin Kwan is also the chief executive and his emoluments disclosed above include those for 
services rendered by him as the chief executive.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the chief executive as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2012: nil). None of the 
directors or the chief executive has waived any emoluments during the year (2012: nil).

Employees’ Emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2012: three) were directors or the 
chief executive of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments 
of the remaining three (2012: two) individuals were as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries and allowances 1,513 988
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 51 29
Performance and discretionary bonus – 57
Share-based payment expense 537 45  

2,101 1,119  

The emoluments of each of these highest paid individuals were within HK$1,000,000.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2012: nil).
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11. Income Tax Expense

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:
– PRC Enterprise Income Tax 25,801 –

Deferred tax (note 31) (3,430) –  

Total income tax recognised in profit or loss 22,371 –  

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated profit for both years. No provision for Hong 
Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no assessable 
profit arising in or derived from Hong Kong for both years.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% for both years. Taxation arising in 
other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 20,521 (11,070)  

Tax charge/(credit) at the applicable income tax rate of 16.5% 3,386 (1,827)
Tax effect of share of profits of associates (273) (204)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8,363 490
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (3,251) (2,669)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 4,210 5,700
Effect of different tax rates for subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 5,584 (1,418)
PRC withholding tax 4,189 –
Others 163 (72)  

Income tax expense for the year 22,371 –  
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12. Loss Per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data:

2013 2012

Loss:
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company 
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share HK$(27,611,000) HK$(11,050,000)  

Number of ordinary shares:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share 1,549,039,997 1,205,126,256

  

The computation of diluted loss per share did not assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share 
options existed during the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 since their exercise would result in a 
decrease in loss per share.

13. Investment Property

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

At fair value
Balance at beginning of year 9,348 10,471
Fair value change during the year – (1,639)
Exchange adjustments 117 516
Disposals (9,465) –  

Balance at end of year – 9,348  

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2012 had been arrived at on the basis 
of valuation carried out on that date by independent professional valuers not connected with the Group. 
The valuation was arrived at by the weighted average of the results of the direct comparison method and 
capitalising the net rent income derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary 
potential of the properties.

The Group’s property interests which were held under medium-term land use rights were situated in the 
PRC and were held under operating leases to earn rentals.



91
Timeless Software Ltd. 

Notes to The Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and 
buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Plant and 
machinery

Computer 
equipment

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE GROUP
Cost
Balance at 1 April 2011 3,006 1,373 – 13,693 828 4,241 759 – 23,900
Exchange adjustments 149 – – 241 16 21 – – 427
Additions – – – 461 64 1,136 – – 1,661
Disposals/write-off (3,155) – – – – – – – (3,155)         

Balance at 31 March 2012 and 
1 April 2012 – 1,373 – 14,395 908 5,398 759 – 22,833

Exchange adjustments 219 – 31 77 5 13 24 105 474
Acquisition through business 

combination (note 39) 17,435 – 2,475 715 – 174 1,942 8,359 31,100
Additions 3,932 – 1,537 367 69 869 794 9,642 17,210
Disposals/write-off – – – (1,632) – (413) – – (2,045)         

Balance at 31 March 2013 21,586 1,373 4,043 13,922 982 6,041 3,519 18,106 69,572         

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment 

Balance at 1 April 2011 1,067 1,373 – 12,242 798 4,116 316 – 19,912
Exchange adjustments 52 – – 186 17 19 – – 274
Provided for the year 45 – – 579 11 243 95 – 973
Eliminated on disposals/write-off (1,164) – – – – – – – (1,164)         

Balance at 31 March 2012 and 
1 April 2012 – 1,373 – 13,007 826 4,378 411 – 19,995

Exchange adjustments – – – 55 4 6 – – 65
Provided for the year 2,248 – 416 674 23 291 512 – 4,164
Eliminated on disposals/write-off – – – (1,630) – (413) – – (2,043)         

Balance at 31 March 2013 2,248 1,373 416 12,106 853 4,262 923 – 22,181         

Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 March 2013 19,338 – 3,627 1,816 129 1,779 2,596 18,106 47,391

         

Balance at 31 March 2012 – – – 1,388 82 1,020 348 – 2,838
         

Depreciation expenses of approximately HK$1,940,000 (2012: HK$973,000) have been included in profit 
or loss in the depreciation and amortisation line item and HK$2,224,000 (2012: nil) were capitalised in 
inventories for the year ended 31 March 2013.
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer 
equipment

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE COMPANY
Cost
Balance at 1 April 2011 1,373 8,285 477 3,384 759 14,278
Additions – 137 – – – 137      

Balance at 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 1,373 8,422 477 3,384 759 14,415
Additions – 150 – 25 – 175
Disposals/write off – (1,111) – (23) – (1,134)      

Balance at 31 March 2013 1,373 7,461 477 3,386 759 13,456      

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 April 2011 1,373 7,961 477 3,308 316 13,435
Provided for the year – 129 – 50 95 274      

Balance at 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 1,373 8,090 477 3,358 411 13,709
Provided for the year – 119 – 25 95 239
Eliminated on disposals/write off – (1,111) – (23) – (1,134)      

Balance at 31 March 2013 1,373 7,098 477 3,360 506 12,814      

Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 March 2013 – 363 – 26 253 642

      

Balance at 31 March 2012 – 332 – 26 348 706
      

At 31 March 2013, the carrying amount of the Group’s and the Company’s office equipment held under a 
finance lease was nil (2012: approximately HK$20,000).
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15. Investments in Subsidiaries

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments, at cost 22,897 22,897
Less: Impairment loss recognised (14,797) (14,797)  

8,100 8,100  

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2013 and 2012 are set out in note 40.

16. Goodwill

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of year – 1,298
Additional amounts recognised from business combination occurring 

during the year (note 39) 5,436 –
Amount written off/impaired during the year (5,436) (1,298)  

Balance at end of year – –  

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following groups of cash-generating 
units:

• Computer hardware and software business

• Mining business
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16. Goodwill (Continued)

Before the recognition of any write off/impairment, the carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to groups 
of cash-generating units as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Computer hardware and software business 1,298 1,298
Mining business 5,436 –  

Balance at end of year 6,734 1,298  

Computer Hardware and Software Business

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit (“CGU”) was determined based on a value in use 
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering 
a five-year period, and a discount rate of 4.64% which reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The directors were of the opinion that based on value 
in use calculation, goodwill allocated to the CGU was fully impaired at 31 March 2012 and recognised 
approximately HK$1,298,000 in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2012.

Mining Business

The recoverable amount of this group of CGUs was determined based on a value in use calculation which 
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year 
period, and discount rate of 22% which reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated by assuming 
zero percent growth rate. The goodwill arising from the acquisition of the mining business (note 39) was 
mainly attributable to the difference between the agreed issue price of the Consideration Shares and their 
acquisition-date fair value. As this factor had no effect on the future cash flows of the mining business, 
such goodwill was written off to profit or loss immediately upon acquisition at 11 May 2012.
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17. Other Intangible Assets

Mining 
rights

Exploration 
rights and 

assets Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
Balance at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 – – –
Acquisition through business combination (note 39) 137,037 243,210 380,247
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences 1,713 3,040 4,753
Additions 168 2,378 2,546   

Balance at 31 March 2013 138,918 248,628 387,546   

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 – – –
Provided for the year 23,642 – 23,642   

Balance at 31 March 2013 23,642 – 23,642   

Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 March 2013 115,276 248,628 363,904

   

Balance at 31 March 2012 – – –
   

The effective amortisation rate of mining rights for the year approximated to 17% (2012: nil).
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18. Interests in Associates

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments, at cost 95,150 95,150 95,150 95,150
Share of post-acquisition results and 

other comprehensive income, 
net of dividends received (87,579) (89,720) – –

Less: Impairment loss recognised – – (87,579) (89,720)    

7,571 5,430 7,571 5,430    

The principal investment in an associate at 31 March 2013 and 2012 represents the Company’s 25.04% 
equity interest in 寧夏教育信息技術股份有限公司 (Ningxia Educational Information & Technology Co., Ltd.) 
(“Ningxia Educational”), a Sino-foreign joint stock limited company established in the PRC and engaged in 
the development of education informatisation programmes in Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region of the PRC.

In the opinion of the directors, the above associate principally affected the results of the year. To give 
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out below:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 40,128 37,140
Total liabilities (9,889) (15,452)  

Net assets 30,239 21,688  

Group’s share of net assets of associates 7,571 5,430  

Total revenue – –  

Total profit for the year 6,618 4,947  

Group’s share of profits of associates 1,657 1,239  

Group’s share of other comprehensive income of associates 484 1,088  
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19. Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities

The Company’s principal investment in jointly controlled entity represented the Company’s 15.31% interest 
in 珠海南方軟件園發展有限公司 (Zhuhai Southern Software Park Development Company Limited) (“ZSSP”), 
a Sino-foreign joint venture established in the PRC and engaged in the development and operation of a 
software park for a term of 30 years commencing November 2000.

On 27 May 2010, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third 
party to sell approximately 12% equity interest in ZSSP at a consideration of RMB10,800,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$12,706,000). On 15 May 2011, the Company entered into a further sale and 
purchase agreement with the same party to sell the remaining 3.31% interest in ZSSP at a consideration 
of RMB2,310,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,817,000). The aforesaid transactions were completed 
during the year ended 31 March 2012. The transactions have resulted in the recognition of a gain in profit 
or loss, calculated as follows:

2012
HK$’000

Proceeds of disposal 15,523
Less: carrying amount of the 15.31% investment –
Add: reclassification adjustments on exchange differences released 66 

Gain recognised 15,589
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20. Prepaid Lease Payments

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of year – –
Acquisitions through business combination (note 39) 7,654 –
Amortisation expense (170) –
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences 96 –  

Balance at end of year 7,580 –  

Analysis of the carrying amounts of prepaid lease payments is as follows:
Prepaid lease payments 7,580 –
Less: portion to be charge to profit or loss in the coming twelve months 

and shown as current assets (186) –  

Balance at end of year 7,394 –  

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprised a land use right situated in the PRC under medium term 
lease with lease term of 50 years.

21. Land Rehabilitation Costs

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of year – –
Acquisitions through business combination (note 39) 3,510 –
Additions 5,127 –
Amortisation expense (918) –
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences 44 –  

Balance at end of year 7,763 –  

The land rehabilitation costs relate to the restoration costs for the occupation of lands at mining sites. The 
amortisation period ranges from approximately 1 to 13 years.
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22. Inventories

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 30,541 –
Finished goods 3,009 3,044  

33,550 3,044  

23. Trade and Other Receivables

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 21,326 6,108 11 19
Prepayments 31,161 4,545 268 3,370
Deposits 29,965 1,094 2,688 633
Other receivables 6,012 3,705 331 420    

88,464 15,452 3,298 4,442
Less: deposits classified as non-current assets (20,235) – – –    

68,229 15,452 3,298 4,442    

Long-term deposits of the Group represent the land restoration and environmental recoverability guarantee 
deposits held in certain specified bank accounts which are restricted as to use. The amounts are not 
expected to be refunded within the next 12 months as at 31 March 2013.

At 31 March 2013, included in the Group’s other receivables are non-interest bearing amount due from an 
associate and interest-bearing loan to an associate amounting to HK$290,000 and HK$1,375,000 (2012: 
HK$209,000 and HK$1,358,000) respectively. The loan carries interest at the best-lending rate with similar 
maturity of the banks in PRC. These amounts are unsecured and repayable within one year.

In addition, included in the deposits is a deposit amounting to US$800,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$6,216,000) (2012: nil) paid to owners of the mines as security for the performance by a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of its obligations pursuant to a mining service agreement (the “Mining Service Agreement”). The 
security deposit will be refunded to the subsidiary without interest within 10 days after termination of the 
Mining Service Agreement or settlement of the last outstanding claim by the owners against the subsidiary 
for any breach of the Mining Service Agreement, whichever shall be later.
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23. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented based on the invoice date:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 13,771 3,300 3 19
31 to 60 days 16 608 8 –
61 to 90 days 38 39 – –
More than 90 days 7,501 2,161 – –    

21,326 6,108 11 19    

The credit terms granted to customers are varied and are generally the result of negotiations between 
individual customers and the Group. No interest is charged on overdue trade receivables. 

The management closely monitors the credit quality of trade and other receivables and considers the trade 
and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality.

At 31 March 2013, 84% (2012: 64%) of the trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired relate to a 
number of independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. Of the trade receivables 
balance at the end of the reporting period, approximately 64% (2012: 45%) were due from the Group’s five 
largest customers.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged analysis) which are past due at 
the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts 
because there has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the amounts are still considered 
recoverable.

Age of Trade Receivables That Are Past Due But Not Impaired

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Overdue by:
1 to 30 days 629 – – –
31 to 60 days – 39 – –
61 to 90 days 23 571 – –
More than 90 days 2,811 1,590 – –    

3,463 2,200 – –    
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24. Investments Held for Trading

At 31 March 2013, the investments held for t rading of approximately HK$17,985,000 (2012: 
HK$17,533,000) represent Hong Kong listed equity securities. The fair values of these investments are 
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices.

25. Bank Balances and Cash/Pledged Bank Deposits

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and the Company and bank deposits which 
carry effective interest at the rates ranging between 0.01% and 2.2% (2012: between 0.001% and 5.02%) 
per annum.

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a bank to secure short-term credit facilities granted 
to the Group and the Company to the extent of HK$110,000 and HK$55,000 (2012: HK$110,000 and 
HK$55,000) respectively and are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits will be 
released upon the expiry of relevant banking facilities.

At 31 March 2013, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately HK$16,778,000 (2012: 
HK$12,626,000) which are denominated in Renminbi and placed with banks in the PRC. The remittance of 
these funds out of the PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the PRC government.
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26. Trade and Other Payables

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 11,047 1,285 – –
Customers’ deposits received 1,941 1,958 45 168
Other payables 15,361 2,914 1,795 681    

28,349 6,157 1,840 849    

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 9,921 501 – –
31 to 60 days 624 – – –
61 to 90 days 144 – – –
More than 90 days 358 784 – –    

11,047 1,285 – –    
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27. Obligations Under a Finance Lease

The Group leased certain of its office equipment under a finance lease. The average lease term is 5 years. 
Interest rate underlying the obligations under a finance lease is fixed at contract date at 7.5% per annum. 
The Group has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. No 
arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.

THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY

Minimum lease 
payments

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amount payable under a finance lease:
Within one year – 26 – 24
Between one to two years – – – –
Between two to five years – – – –    

– 26 – 24
Less: Future finance charges – (2) – –    

Present value of lease obligations – 24 – 24  

Less: Amount due within one year shown 
under current liabilities – (24)  

Amount due after one year – –  

The Group’s obligations under a finance lease were secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased asset.

28. Amounts Due From/(to) Subsidiaries/a Related Company

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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29. Promissory Note

On 11 May 2012, the Group issued the Promissory Note to Starmax Holdings Limited as part of the 
purchase consideration of the business combination (note 39) in the principal amount of HK$63,000,000 
of which HK$3,000,000 was repaid on 8 August 2012, being the date falling three months from the date of 
issue. The outstanding aggregate principle amount of HK$60,000,000 is repayable in six equal instalments 
on each anniversary of the date of issue. The Promissory Note bears interest at 3% per annum payable on 
each anniversary of the date of issue and is secured by a charge over 51% of the issued share capital of 
Goffers Management Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

The fair value of the Promissory Note has been determined to be HK$63,020,000 at the date of issue. 
The fair value of the Promissory Note has been arrived using the effective interest method by discounting 
future estimated repayments at discount rates ranging from 2.175% to 3.164% with reference to the Hong 
Kong Exchange Fund Notes yields and credit spreads of comparable financial instruments with similiar 
characteristics. In performing the fair value assessment, the directors have made reference to a valuation 
performed by an independent professional valuer.

30. Provision for Land Rehabilitation

2013
HK$’000

Balance at beginning of year –
Recognised on business combination (note 39) 4,686
Additional provisions recognised 5,127
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences 59 

Balance at end of year 9,872 

In accordance with relevant PRC rules and regulations, the Group is obliged to assess the cost for land 
reclamation and mine closures for the Group’s existing mines. The provision for land rehabilitation has 
been determined by the directors based on their best estimates by reference to relevant PRC rules and 
regulations.
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31. Deferred Taxation

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the current 
and prior years:

Withholding tax 
on 

undistributed 
profits

Fair value 
adjustments 
arising from 

business 
combination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 – – –
Recognised on business combination (note 39) 1,725 51,981 53,706
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences 22 649 671
Credit to profit or loss (413) (3,017) (3,430)   

At 31 March 2013 1,334 49,613 50,947
   

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in 
respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not 
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable 
to the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$191,000 (2012: HK$276,000) 
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused tax losses of approximately 
HK$336,000,000 (2012: HK$325,000,000) available for offsetting against future profits of the group 
entities in which the losses arose. These estimated unused tax losses of the Group may be carried forward 
indefinitely except for an amount of approximately HK$22,000,000 (2012: HK$27,000,000) which is due to 
expire within one to five years. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these estimated 
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
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32. Share Capital

Number of ordinary shares Amount
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 2,500,000,000 2,500,000,000 125,000 125,000    

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each
At beginning of year 1,306,311,503 1,134,561,503 65,316 56,728
Placing of ordinary shares – 168,000,000 – 8,400
Issue of Consideration Shares 270,000,000 – 13,500 –
Exercise of share options 3,950,000 3,750,000 197 188    

At end of year 1,580,261,503 1,306,311,503 79,013 65,316    

Details of share options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2013 are as follows:

Subscription price per share

Number of 
share options 

exercised

HK$0.1530 50,000
HK$0.1500 300,000
HK$0.0900 300,000
HK$0.0882 500,000
HK$0.0772 2,800,000 

3,950,000
 

As a result, an aggregate of 3,950,000 (2012: 3,750,000) new ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each in the 
Company are issued during the year ended 31 March 2013.

On 21 October 2011, the Company has entered into the placing of an aggregate of up to 168,000,000 
placing shares to not less than six independent placees. The placing and subscription were successfully 
completed on 26 October 2011 and 3 November 2011 respectively, resulting in the issue of 168,000,000 
shares of HK$0.15 each.

On 11 May 2012, the Group completed the acquisition of the 51% equity interest in Goffers Management 
Limited and its subsidiaries. The consideration was partially satisfied by the issue of 270,000,000 
Consideration Shares by the Company at the issue price of HK$0.15 each. Further details of the business 
combination are set out in note 39.

All the shares issued during the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 rank pari passu with the then 
existing shares in all respects.
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33. Share Options

The options of the 2003 share option scheme may be granted to any director, employee, consultant, 
customer, supplier, agent, partner, provider of financial assistance, shareholder or adviser of or contractor 
to the Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such company 
(“Eligible Participants”), the trustee of the Eligible Participants or a company beneficially owned by the 
Eligible Participants. The purpose of the 2003 share option scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the 
contributions that the Eligible Participants had made or may make to the Group.

At 31 March 2013, the total number of shares available for issue under the 2003 share option scheme is 
243,604,150 (2012: 250,802,150) shares, representing 15.42% (2012: 19.20%) of the issued share capital 
of the Company at that date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted 
and yet to be exercised under the 2003 share option scheme and other share option schemes of the 
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. 
No options may be granted to any Eligible Participants which if exercised in full would result in the total 
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options already granted to such 
Eligible Participants in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such new grant exceeding 
1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of grant unless approval is obtained from 
the shareholders of the Company. The exercisable period is determined by the board of directors in its 
absolute discretion, save that such period shall not be more than ten years from the date of grant. There is 
no generally applicable minimum period for which the options must be held before it can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be accepted when the Company receives in writing the acceptance 
of the offer from the grantee together with a remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1 by way of 
consideration for the grant thereof. The option shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Participants 
concerned for a period of 28 days from the date of offer. The exercise price shall be determined by the 
board of directors at the time of grant of the relevant option and notified to each grantee and shall not be 
less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation 
sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business day; (ii) an amount equivalent 
to the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five 
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of 
a share.

The 2003 share option scheme is valid for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date of 28 
April 2003.
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33. Share Options (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2013, options were granted on 20 November 2012 (2012: 9 September 
2011). The estimated fair value of the options granted on that date was approximately HK$0.077 (2012: 
HK$0.0892) per option.

The Company used the Binomial Option Pricing Model (the “Model”) to value the share options granted 
during the year. The Model is one of the commonly used models to estimate the fair value of share options. 
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in the 
variables so adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

Details of the fair values of share options determined at the date of grant using the Model with the inputs 
are as follows:

20 November 
2012

9 September 
2011

Closing share price HK$0.1320 HK$0.1500
Exercise price HK$0.1330 HK$0.1500
Expected volatility 92% 94%
Expected life 10 years 10 years
Risk-free rate 0.54% 1.57%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the 
previous years. The expected life used in the Model has been adjusted, based on the management’s best 
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$2,301,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: 
HK$241,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was 
HK$0.1450 (2012: HK$0.1316) per share.
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34. Operating Lease Commitments

The Group and the Company as Lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company had commitments for future minimum lease 
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,303 3,809 907 907
In the second to fifth year inclusive 922 2,197 865 1,772    

2,225 6,006 1,772 2,679    

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases 
are negotiated for terms up to three years and rentals are fixed over the lease periods. The Group does not 
have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

The Group as Lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was HK$163,000 (2012: HK$643,000). The Group’s 
investment property is held for rental purposes.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum 
lease payments:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year – 643
In the second to fifth year inclusive – 27  

– 670  
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35. Capital Commitments

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for:
– acquisition of property, plant and equipment 8,554 –  

36. Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The 
assets of the plans are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefits 
plan operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage 
of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with 
respect to the retirement benefits plan is to make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the total amount contributed by the Group to the schemes and 
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income amounted to approximately HK$2,228,000 
(2012: HK$1,338,000).
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37. Litigation

Litigation between Timeless Beijing and Ningxia Educational

天 時 北 方 軟 件（北 京）有 限 公 司 (Timeless Northern Software (Beijing) Company Limited) (“Timeless 
Beijing”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was served with a writ of civil proceedings 
on 13 September 2011 in respect of the civil proceedings commenced by Ningxia Educational, an 
associated company of the Company in which the Company holds an equity interest of 25%, as plaintiff 
against Timeless Beijing as defendant for the claim of compensation for non-completion of the information 
engineering project by Timeless Beijing pursuant to the agreement between Ningxia Educational and 
Timeless Beijing made in 2001.

The following orders were sought to be granted by the Higher People’s Court in Ningxia Hui Autonomous 
Region (“Ningxia Higher People’s Court”) against Timeless Beijing: (i) Timeless Beijing to return and pay to 
Ningxia Educational the project fee in the sum of RMB11,834,793.85 prepaid by Ningxia Educational, the 
interest in the sum of RMB6,265,915.16 and the interest accrued up to the date of full payment by Timeless 
Beijing; (ii) legal counsel fees incurred by Ningxia Educational in the sum of RMB250,000 to be borne by 
Timeless Beijing; and (iii) the costs of the proceedings and other costs to be borne by Timeless Beijing.

On 12 March 2012, the Ningxia Higher People’s Court has dismissed the claims against Timeless Beijing 
by Ningxia Educational and ordered that the costs of the proceedings of the court be borne by Ningxia 
Educational. Under the PRC law, Ningxia Educational may lodge appeal against the judgement on or 
before 31 March 2012.

On 28 March 2012, Timeless Beijing was served a copy of the appeal petition filed by Ningxia Educational 
against the decision of the Ningxia Higher People’s Court.

The directors, based on the advice obtained from PRC legal advisers, believe that the subsidiary has a 
valid defence against the above litigation and accordingly, had not provided for any claim arising from the 
litigation as at 31 March 2012 in the consolidated financial statements.

On 30 November 2012, the civil written order ((2012) Min San Zhong Zi No. 4) made by the Supreme 
People’s Court of the PRC on 5 November 2012 was transferred to the Company and that the Supreme 
People’s Court has dismissed the appeal lodged by Ningxia Educational against Timeless Beijing by 
Ningxia Educational and ordered that the costs of the proceedings of the court be borne by Ningxia 
Educational.
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38. Transactions with Non-Controlling Interests

(a) Disposal of interest in a Subsidiary without Loss of Control

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group disposed of 8.33% of equity interest in 廣東厚
德寶網絡科技有限公司 (“HDB”) at a consideration of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$1,250,000). The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in HDB on the date of disposal 
was nil. The Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of HK$203,000 and an 
increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company of HK$1,047,000. The effect of changes in 
the ownership interest of HDB on the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the current 
year is summarised as follows:

HK$’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests disposed of (203)
Add: Consideration received from non-controlling interests 1,250 

Net effect for transaction with non-controlling interests on 
changes in equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,047 

(b) Acquisition of Additional Interest in a Subsidiary

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group acquired an additional 20% equity interest in 天
時南方（珠海）軟件有限公司 (“Timeless Zhuhai”) from its former jointly controlled entity ZSSP for a 
cash consideration of approximately RMB1,938,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,400,000). 
The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in Timeless Zhuhai on the date of acquisition 
was approximately HK$2,558,000. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests 
and an increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$2,558,000 and 
HK$158,000 respectively. The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Timeless Zhuhai on the 
equity attributable to owners of the Company during the prior year is summarised as follows:

HK$’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 2,558
Less: Consideration paid to non-controlling interests (2,400) 

Net effect for transaction with non-controlling interests on 
changes in equity attributable to owners of the Company 158 
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39. Business Combination

On 11 May 2012, the Group completed the acquisition of the 51% equity interest in Goffers Management 
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Goffers Group”). The consideration was satisfied by the 
issue of (i) 270,000,000 Consideration Shares by the Company at the issue price of HK$0.15 each; and 
(ii) Promissory Note in the principal amount of HK$63,000,000. The directors consider that the acquisition 
represents a strategic move providing the Group with an opportunity to enter into the mining business in 
the PRC, which is expected to broaden the Group’s revenue base and create value for the shareholders of 
the Company.

The major assets of the Goffers Group comprised its 51% controlling interests in 新疆天目礦業資源開發
有限公司 (“Xinjiang Tianmu”), a Sino-foreign equity joint venture company established in the PRC which 
is principally engaged in exploration and exploitation of gold, iron, nickel-copper mines in Xinjiang Uygur 
Autonomous Region (“Xinjiang”), the PRC and the processing and sale of the outputs from the mines.

Consideration transferred

HK$’000

Consideration Shares 45,090
Promissory Note (note 29) 63,020 

Total 108,110 

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, the vendor has warranted and undertaken that, the total 
actual and completed sales of gold by Xinjiang Tianmu for the twelve months ending 30 June 2013 (the 
“Actual Sales”) shall not be less than 282 kg (the “Guarantee Sales”) and that any shortfall from the 
Guarantee Sales will be compensated to the Group by paying in cash an amount which is equivalent 
of 26.01% of the shortfall between the Guarantee Sales and Actual Sales at HK$124,000 per kg. The 
maximum amount payable by the vendor under the gold sales guarantee is approximately HK$9,095,000. 
The above arrangement is accounted for as a contingent consideration receivable at fair value through 
profit or loss. The directors assessed the fair value of the contingent consideration at the date of acquisition 
and as at the end of the reporting period to be insignificant.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$7,146,000 have been excluded from the cost 
of acquisition and have been recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 March 2013, within the 
“acquisition-related costs” line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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39. Business Combination (Continued)

Assets Acquired and Liabilities Recognised at the Date of Acquisition

HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 31,100
Other intangible assets 380,247
Prepaid lease payments 7,471
Deposits 16,471
Land rehabilitation costs 3,510

Current assets
Inventories 22,207
Prepaid lease payments 183
Trade and other receivables 37,682
Bank balances and cash 53,134

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (34,940)
Amounts due to related companies (10,664)
Dividends payable (57,729)
Current tax liabilities (4,916)

Non-current liabilities
Provision for land rehabilitation (4,686)
Deferred tax liabilities (53,706) 

Total 385,364 

Non-Controlling Interests

The non-controlling interests in the Goffers Group recognised at the acquisition date was measured at the 
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s fair value of net assets of the Goffers Group 
and amounted to approximately HK$282,690,000.

Goodwill Arising on Acquisition

HK$’000

Consideration transferred 108,110
Plus: non-controlling interests 282,690
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (385,364) 

Total 5,436 
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39. Business Combination (Continued)

Goodwill Arising on Acquisition (Continued)

In accordance with the sales and purchase agreement, the consideration for the acquisition was 
HK$103,500,000, of which HK$63,000,000 was to be satisfied by the issuance of promissory note (the 
“Promissory Note”) and HK$40,500,000 was to be satisfied by the issuance of 270,000,000 ordinary shares 
of the Company (the “Consideration Shares”) at the agreed issue price of HK$0.15 each. In accordance 
with HKFRS 3, the consideration transferred in a business combination shall be measured at fair value. 
The closing market price of the Company’s ordinary shares was HK$0.167 each on the acquisition date. 
Therefore, the Company determined that the acquisition-date fair values of the Promissory Note and 
the Consideration Shares were approximately HK$63,020,000 and HK$45,090,000 (being 270,000,000 
Consideration Shares at HK$0.167 each) respectively. The acquisition-date fair value of the total 
consideration was therefore approximately HK$108,110,000. The goodwill arising from the acquisition 
amounted to HK$5,436,000 which was mainly attributable to the difference between the agreed issue 
price of the Consideration Shares and their acquisition-date fair value in an amount of approximately 
HK$4,590,000. As this factor had no effect on the future cash flows of the Goffers Group, such goodwill 
was written off to profit or loss immediately upon acquisition.

Net Cash Inflow on Acquisition

HK$’000

Consideration paid in cash –
Plus: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired 53,134 

Total 53,134 

Impact of Acquisition on the Results of the Group

The Goffers Group contributed revenue of approximately HK$156,038,000 and net profit of approximately 
HK$25,390,000 to the Group for the period from the date of acquisition to 31 March 2013.

Had the business combination been effected at 1 April 2012, the revenue of the Group would have been 
HK$219,659,000, and the result for the year would have been profit of HK$14,687,000. This pro forma 
information is for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an indication of results of operations of the 
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2012, nor is it 
intended to be a projection of future results.



118
Timeless Software Ltd. 

Notes to The Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013

40. Principal Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which, excluding those explained below, are limited 
liability companies, at 31 March 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/ 
establishment/ 
operations

Nominal value of issued and fully 
paid share capital/ registered capital

Attributable proportion 
of nominal value 
of issued capital/ 

registered capital held 
by the Company Principal activities

2013 2012 Directly Indirectly

Three Principles Computer 
Service Co. Limited

Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 HK$5,000,000 100% – Provision of computer 
consultancy services, and 
development and sales of 
computer software

Encore Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$6 HK$6 100% – Trading of computer software 
and hardware and provision 
of information technology 
consultancy services in 
Hong Kong

廣州市新信薈智信息產業有限公司 

(“Talent Valley Company Limited”)
PRC RMB16,000,000 RMB16,000,000 – 100% Provision of computer 

consultancy services

HDB PRC RMB12,000,000 RMB12,000,000 – 92% Provision of e-Commerce 
software development and 
information technology 
services as well as retail 
and wholesale of computer 
software, hardware 
and ironware

廣東厚德寶供應鏈服務有限公司 PRC RMB10,100,000 RMB10,100,000 – 92% Provision of supply chain 
management, storage and 
corporate management 
consultancy services

Xinjiang Tianmu PRC RMB20,000,000 N/A – 26% Exploration and exploitation of 
certain gold, iron and 
nickel-copper mines in 
Xinjiang of the PRC and 
processing and sale of 
the outputs from the mines
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40. Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

Each of Talent Valley Company Limited, HDB and 廣東厚德寶供應鏈服務有限公司 is a wholly foreign 
owned enterprise established in the PRC. Xinjiang Tianmu is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture company 
established in the PRC and owned as to 51% by Goffers Management Limited, a 51% owned subsidiary of 
the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year, or at any time during 
the year.

41. Reserves

The Company

Share 
premium

Share 
options 
reserve

Accumulated 
deficit Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 April 2011 637,996 2,165 (672,096) (31,935)
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 161 161
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments – 241 – 241
Placing of ordinary shares 16,800 – – 16,800
Issue of ordinary shares under employee 

share option plan 305 (163) – 142
Release of reserve upon share options forfeited – (52) 52 –
Transaction costs attributable to issue of 

new ordinary shares (994) – – (994)    

Balance at 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 654,107 2,191 (671,883) (15,585)
Total comprehensive income for the year – – (16,079) (16,079)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments – 2,301 – 2,301
Issue of Consideration Shares 31,590 – – 31,590
Issue of ordinary shares under employee share 

option plan 315 (173) – 142
Release of reserve upon share options forfeited – (158) 158 –
Transaction costs attributable to issue of 

new ordinary shares (206) – – (206)    

Balance at 31 March 2013 685,806 4,161 (687,804) 2,163
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42. Profit/Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company is dealt in with the financial statements of the Company to 
the extent of approximately HK$14,180,000 (2012: profit of approximately HK$2,094,000).

43. Related Party Transactions

Details of balances with related parties are set out in the statements of financial position and respective 
notes.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following significant 
transactions with related parties during the year:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental expenses paid to a related company (note (i)) 200 –
Interest expenses paid to a related company (note (ii)) 1,576 –  

Notes:

(i) Rental expenses in respect of the leasing of an office premise were paid to a related company which is beneficially 

owned by Mr. Felipe Tan, a director and shareholder of the Company, at normal commercial terms mutually agreed 

by both parties.

(ii) Effective interest expenses on Promissory Note is charged at 2.93% per annum and payable to a related company 

which is beneficially owned as to 90.01% by Mr. Felipe Tan, a director and shareholder of the Company, at terms 

mutually agreed by both parties. Further details of the Promissory Note are set out in note 29 and 39.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

The key management personnel are the directors of the Company. Details of their remuneration are set out 
in note 10.

44. Events After the Reporting Period

Acquisition of Property

On 6 February 2013, the Company entered into a provisional agreement for sale and purchase with 
an independent third party, in relation to the acquisition of property located in Hong Kong for a cash 
consideration of approximately HK$20,553,000. Completion of the acquisition took place on 20 May 2013.
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44. Events After the Reporting Period (Continued)

Extension of Promissory Note Repayment

Pursuant to the terms of the Promissory Note, the repayment of the first instalment in the principal amount 
of HK$10,000,000 (“First Instalment”) falls due on 11 May 2013. In order to provide sufficient funding for the 
project in relation to a mining services agreement entered into between the Group and certain independent 
third parties for the work and services to operate and maintain the mine facilities of three gold mines 
located in the Republic of Madagascar, on 10 May 2013, Starmax Holdings Limited (as noteholder) and 
Time Kingdom Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as issuer), mutually agreed to extend 
the due date for the repayment of the First Instalment to 11 May 2014, and that interest shall continue to 
accrue on the overdue First Instalment at 7% per annum according to the terms of the Promissory Note 
until the First Instalment is fully paid by the Company. All other terms of the Promissory Note remain the 
same and valid.

45. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.
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Year ended 31 March
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

Turnover 9,042 16,710 25,091 25,785 204,866
     

Profit/(loss) before tax (24,011) (2,872) (11,538) (11,070) 20,521
Income tax expense – – – – (22,371)     

Loss for the year (24,011) (2,872) (11,538) (11,070) (1,850)
     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (23,998) (2,864) (11,520) (11,050) (27,611)
Non-controlling interests (13) (8) (18) (20) 25,761     

(24,011) (2,872) (11,538) (11,070) (1,850)
     

At 31 March
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 116,022 116,377 115,025 116,690 629,450
Total liabilities (7,925) (7,285) (18,713) (6,181) (202,136)     

108,097 109,092 96,312 101,509 427,314
     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 105,499 106,502 93,656 110,310 133,224
Non-controlling interests 2,598 2,590 2,656 199 294,090     

108,097 109,092 96,312 110,509 427,314
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